

BUILDING COMMUNITY, PEOPLE, AND PARTNERSHIPS

### **PERSONNEL POLICY**

**JANUARY 2020** 

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

### **Section 1 - Introduction**

Welcome	1.1
About Your Handbook	1.1
Mission of the Authority	1.2
Equal Employment Opportunity	1.2
Introductory Period	1.3
Section 2 – General Practices	
Employee/Employer Responsibility	2.1
Hours of Work	2.2
Flexible Work Schedule	2.3
Attendance	2.4
Dress Code	2.6
Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA)	2.7
Reasonable Accommodation	2.7
Section 3 – Policy and Conduct	
Standards of Conduct	3.1
Criminal Activity and Fraud	3.3
Employment at Will	3.5
Harassment	3.6
Sexual Harassment	3.8
Respect and Professionalism in the Workplace	3.10
Conflict Resolution	3.11
Confidentiality	3.12
Conflict of Interest	3.13
Outside Employment	3.14
Political Activity	3.15
Smoke-Free Workplace	3.16
Alcohol and Controlled Substance Abuse	3.17
Post Injury Drug/Alcohol Testing	3.17
Inclement Weather	3.21
Operating Agency Vehicles	3.22
Authority Communication Systems	3.24
Computer, Internet, Email Usage	3.25

Social Media	3.27
Section 4 – Employee Classification and Compensation	
Recruitment and Selection of Employees	4.1
Salary Administration	4.2
Employee Classification	4.2
Special Pay Structure	4.4
Pay Periods and Paydays	4.5
Medical Insurance	4.6
Retirement	4.7
Section 5 – Time Away From Work	
Leaves of Absence	5.1
Family Medical Leave Act	5.1
Personal Leave	5.4
Bereavement Leave	5.4
Jury Duty/Court Appearances	5.5
Military Leave	5.6
VESSA	5.6
Holidays	5.8
Paid Time Off	5.9
Sick/Personal Time	5.9
Emergency Medical Leave Bank	5.10
Vacation	5.13
Accommodating Nursing Mothers	5.14
Worker's Compensation	5.15
Voting Time	5.16
Section 6 – Performance Management and Development	
Employee Training	6.1
Performance Evaluations	6.2
Demotions	6.3
Progressive Discipline Procedures	6.4
Personnel Records	6.5
Section 7 – Safety	
Safety Policy and Guidelines	7.1
Workplace Violence	7.3

### **Section 8 – Leaving Employment**

Resignation	8.1
Termination	8.2
Reduction in Force (RIF)	8.3
Exit Interviews	8.4
Medical Continuation of Benefits	8.5
Re-Employment	8.6

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

# **Section 1** Introduction

### **WELCOME**

This manual is designed to acquaint you with Knox County Housing Authority and provide you with general information about working conditions, benefits, and policies affecting your employment.

We at Knox County Housing Authority are an Equal Opportunity Employer in all personnel decisions.

The information contained in this manual applies to all employees of Knox County Housing Authority. Following the policies described in this manual is considered a condition of continuous employment. However, nothing in this manual alters an employee's "at-will" status. The contents of this manual shall not constitute nor be construed as a promise of my employment or as a contract between the Authority and any of its employees. The manual is a summary of our policies, which are presented here only as a matter of information.

You are responsible for reading, understanding, and complying with the provisions of this manual. Our objective is to provide you with a work environment that is constructive to both personal and professional growth.

### ABOUT YOUR HANDBOOK

The Authority is responsible for developing and administering policies and procedures to maintain a well-run organization. We believe that the policies and procedures, as described in our employee handbook, are reasonable. However, the contents of this handbook are presented to you as guidelines and for your information only. The policies, procedures and benefits will be applied to each particular situation and interpreted by the Authority at its sole discretion subject to applicable state and federal laws.

This handbook is prepared to help you become acquainted with the Authority to describe, in general terms, what you can expect from the Authority and what we expect of you as our employee. However, while the Authority believes wholeheartedly in the plans, policies and procedures described, we reserve the right to modify, revoke, suspend, terminate or change any or all plans, policies or procedures, in whole or in part, at any time, with or without notice. The language used in this handbook is not intended to create a contract, or evidence of a contract, between the Authority and any one, or all, of our employees. Only the Executive Director of the Authority has the Authority to enter into such agreements. Any such agreement must be in writing and signed by both the Executive Director and the employee. This handbook supersedes all previous written or verbal policies.

Employment with the Authority is not governed by any written or oral contract and is considered an "at-will" arrangement. This means that you are free, as is the Authority, to terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, so long as there is no violation of applicable federal or state law.

It is impossible for this handbook to cover every situation that may arise. When you have a question, ask your supervisor or the Executive Director. In circumstances where you are unable to consult with an appropriate person at the agency, use common sense and good judgment.

### MISSION OF THE AUTHORITY

The Knox County Housing Authority is a dynamic force in our community, providing high-quality affordable housing opportunities for individuals and families, while promoting self-sufficiency, empowerment, and a sense of community development.

Further, we will partner with other agencies to implement programs and services designed to help our families thrive.

The agency also oversees 220 Housing Choice Vouchers (Section 8) that allow low-income families to rent from private landlords throughout the jurisdiction.

The population we serve is as diverse as the community we live in. Our clients represent a broad range of cultures, backgrounds, and stages in life, from hard working individuals and families to persons with disabilities and special needs to single parents seeking to improve the quality of life for their families.

Each year, the combination of low wages, unemployment, rising housing costs, and generational poverty affects thousands in Knox County. We are here to help.

Knox County Housing Authority 216 W. Simmons St. Galesburg, IL 61401 PH 309-342-8129 Fax 309-342-7206

### **EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY**

The Knox County Housing Authority is an Equal Employment Opportunity Employer. There shall be no discrimination against employees or applicants for employment on account of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, disability, religion, political affiliation, veteran status, genetic information, sexual orientation, or age.

Notwithstanding the existence of this statement of personnel policies, the Housing Authority or Employee may terminate the employment relationship at any time and for any reason at the will of either party.

### INTRODUCTORY PERIOD

The first ninety (90) calendar days of your employment are considered an introduction period, during which time you can become more familiar with our Authority and your job, and we can better evaluate your overall qualifications for the job.

During this initial period, you will be rated by your supervisor on your ability to perform the job, including your cooperation, skill level, dependability and other factors which contribute toward a good working relationship between an employee and the organization. It is also a time you should communicate to your supervisor any training needs or concerns you may have.

Employment with our Authority is at-will and may be terminated at any time, either by you or the Authority. Successful completion of the introductory period is not a guarantee of continued employment.

## Section 2 General Practices

### EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYER RESPONSIBILITIES

### **Employer's Responsibilities**

Employees of the Housing Authority may expect:

- Fair and impartial treatment at all times;
- Adequate and competitive pay;
- Safe working conditions;
- Modern equipment and materials;
- Informed supervision;

### Employee's Responsibilities

As an employer, the Housing Authority expects employees to be:

- Fair and courteous in meeting the public and working with fellow employees;
- Industrious;
- Neat in work and personal appearance;
- Prompt in reporting for work and in completing assignments;
- Economical in the use of supplies and equipment;
- Cooperative with the public and with fellow employees in getting the job done well;
- Observant of all Housing Authority policies and procedures;
- If certification of any type is required for a position, the employee must already be certified or must obtain certification within the described period that the job description requires.

### **HOURS OF WORK**

Regular working hours for the Knox County Housing Authority are Monday through Friday, 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM. Work schedules may differ from one department to another and the department head of each department will determine each employee's hours and work schedule. Scheduling of weekends and holidays should be on a rotating basis wherever possible. You will be expected to record your own time worked in accordance with established Authority policies and procedures. The Authority may change the starting time of any work shift.

Employees are allowed two (2) breaks of fifteen (15) minutes which should be taken as scheduled by your department head.

All employees working in excess of seven and one-half (7-1/2) continuous hours shall be allowed to take a one-hour unpaid meal break no later than five (5) hours after they have begun work, at a time established by their department head. All employees working in excess of five (5) continuous hours shall be allowed to take a one-quarter (1/4) hour paid rest period at a time established by the department head.

Employees may leave the Authority's premises for their meal period. Leaving the premises during your working hours without the express consent of your department head is not permitted.

Knox County Housing Authority will provide reasonable unpaid break time each day to employees who need to express breast milk for their infant child. This break time must, if possible, run concurrently with any break time already provided to the employee. Any other time needed for this purpose will be without pay. Employees who are nursing mothers should see their supervisor for a private location for this purpose.

### **FLEXIBLE SCHEDULE**

The Authority confirms its commitment to develop, maintain and support a comprehensive policy of equal opportunities in employment within the agency. To assist in this, the Authority actively supports a flexible schedule where it is reasonable and practical to do so, and where operational needs will not be adversely affected. In order to facilitate this, the agency may allow working arrangements, in accordance with operational interests, whereby it can widen its recruitment pool, retain the valuable skills of existing employees who no longer want to work full-time or who may want to work full time but with an alternative schedule, and enable staff to retain career development opportunities.

Flexible scheduling allows employees to work hours that are not within the standard 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM range, while maintaining a high level of service during the agency's peak operating hours, which are typically from 10:00 AM to 3:00 PM. With a flexible schedule, non-exempt employees are still subject to all requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act. Employees who are exempt from FLSA are expected to work whatever number of hours are required in order to accomplish their duties and may be permitted to set their own schedules.

Because services within each program may vary, not every employee in each program will be able to work similar flexible schedules. Therefore, managers will have to carefully examine the flexible schedules which their employees request, so that they can coordinate work schedules which ensure ample employee coverage during peak hours.

It is the responsibility of the manager to verify and ensure performance of employees with flexible schedules. Managers will need to coordinate the schedules to ensure ample coverage during peak hours. Trust is a big factor; managers must feel confident that employees will not abuse the benefits that are inherent in a flexible schedule. Flexible scheduling is a privilege, not a right, and, if abused, can be taken away at the discretion of the manager or Executive Director.

Flexible scheduling adjusts daily work hours while still working the required number of hours in a day. For instance, instead of the normal 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. day, an employee could work from 7:00 a.m. - 4:00 p.m., 7:30 a.m. - 4:30 p.m., 9:00 a.m. - 6:00 p.m., etc. Working any arrangement of hours within an 8-hour day constitutes a valid work day. It is important to remember employee that the level of service must be maintained during peak hours. This flex-time schedule also allows employees to adjust the length of their lunch period, while still working your required shift.

For selected positions for which work can be performed away from the office, the agency may approve "work-at-home" on an as-needed basis. The flowing guidelines apply:

- The needs of the agency will always be the top consideration when allowing work to be completed at home.
- The employee who works from home is expected to comply with all agency policies.
- The employee is expected to meet or exceed all performance standards.
- The employee is subject to discipline based on performance or violation of agency policy.
- Work-at-home arrangements must be approved by the employee's manager.

### **ATTENDANCE**

Attendance affects the morale and success of the Authority, and is important in evaluating performance and potential for advancement. Employees are required to report to work when expected. Unplanned or excessive absenteeism or other attendance issues causes serious disruptions in work and burdens other employees. Strong attendance and engagement is expected of all employees. The Authority recognizes that employees must occasionally be late or absent from work. However, the reasons for the absences and tardiness and your attendance will be evaluated on the basis of your entire work record.

Employees are responsible for their own attendance records. This includes the input of time worked, requesting time off in accordance with this policy, notification of tardy or absence, and providing documentation regarding attendance upon request.

### **TARDINESS**

Employees are required to report to work when expected. Employees are expected to plan for occasional incidents, which may delay their arrival at work.

- If you anticipate that you may be late to work, you must notify your manager within 30 minutes of the start of your shift.
- Failure to notify your manager regarding a tardy will result in an occurrence.
- Employees with more than three unauthorized occurrences in a 12-month period will receive a written warning.
- Employees with six unauthorized occurrences in a 12-month period may be subject to termination.

### **ABSENCES**

When you find it necessary to be absent for any reason, a report should be made promptly to your supervisor, in advance, whenever possible.

### **Authorized absences** include the following:

- Vacation time scheduled in advance
- Sick time with proper notice
- Workers' compensation injury
- Death in the immediate family
- Jury Duty
- Time off to vote in local, state, and federal elections
- Military leave
- Emergency situations beyond the employee's control

The following notification methods and documentation requirements are provided for authorized absences:

- If you know in advance that you will need to be absent, you must advise your supervisor to preschedule the absence. To the extent possible, the Authority will accommodate these requests based on the business needs of the organization.
- If you do not know about the absence in advance, you must notify your supervisor within 30 minutes of your scheduled start time.
- For each day you have an unscheduled absence, you must notify your supervisor, giving the reason for the absence and an indication of when you will be back at work.
- If you cannot return to work when you are expected, it is your obligation to notify your supervisor.
- When you return to work after an absence of three (3) or more consecutive days, you may need a doctor's release indicating that you may return to work. The release should be given to the Executive Director.
- We may require documentation of authorized reasons for absence, such as sick leave or jury duty, and may also verify the documentation where appropriate.

**Unauthorized absences** occur when proper notice has not been given and/or when the Authority has not provided approval for an absence(s). Unauthorized absences indicate a lack of interest in your job.

### CORRECTIVE ACTION FOR ATTENDANCE ISSUES

- An employee with excessive absenteeism, authorized or unauthorized, will receive progressive discipline, up to and including termination of employment.
- An employee with three unauthorized absences in twelve months will receive progressive discipline, up to and including termination of employment.
- An employee with five unauthorized absences in twelve months will receive progressive discipline, up to and including termination of employment.
- An absence of three consecutive workdays without proper notification to the Authority will be considered a voluntary termination of your employment.

### DRESS CODE

Personal appearance contributes to the impression others form about us and the Authority. Knox County Housing Authority employees are expected to care about their personal appearance and ensure that their personal hygiene and dress projects a positive self and Authority image. Our policy applies to all employees.

All employees should judge their business attire for meetings and contacts outside of the office by the type of function that will be attended. Also, on occasion there may be a specific business reason to require that all employees dress in traditional business attire. In such instance this will be communicated to employees in advance and they will be required to dress accordingly.

This policy is intended as a guideline for appropriate attire but is not a replacement for good judgment and taste. Management personnel have the authority and obligation to send employees home if their appearance is not acceptable. Anyone with questions regarding appropriate dress should contact their supervisor or the Executive Director.

### AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA)

It is the policy of the Authority to comply with state and federal disability laws, including the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), as amended. We will not discriminate against any qualified individual with a disability in any phase of the employment relationship including application for employment, hiring, promotion and/or advancement in employment, termination, compensation, and training opportunities or other conditions or privileges of employment. The Authority will consider all requests for reasonable accommodations consistent with the business needs of the Authority in accordance with state and federal law.

For purposes of this policy, disabled individuals may include persons who:

- Have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities; or
- Have a record of such impairment; or
- Are regarded as having such impairment.

### REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION

As an equal opportunity employer, the Housing Authority is committed to the fair and equal employment of individuals with disabilities. It is the policy of the Housing Authority to reasonably accommodate qualified individuals with disabilities unless doing so would pose an undue hardship for the Housing Authority. For the purposes of this policy, the term "qualified individual with a disability" is defined pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable laws.

If an employee believes that he or she needs a reasonable accommodation, he or she should contact the Executive Director.

### Section 3 Policy and Conduct

### STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

Employees are expected to conduct themselves in a professional, business-like manner. Employees should strive to conduct all business dealings and relationships with integrity, honesty, and respect for others. Employees should loyally and faithfully serve our principles and always deal fairly and honestly with customers and others with whom we do business.

However, to ensure the protection of its property, business interests and other employees, the Authority has established certain guidelines and procedures, which all employees shall follow. No written list of Authority guidelines can be complete or can substitute for good judgment by employees or cooperation between employees and management. Some of these guidelines are outlined in this policy and others may be posted or communicated from time to time. These guidelines do not limit the Authority's right to impose discipline for other conduct detrimental to the interests of the Authority, its principals or other employees. If your conduct should become unacceptable, you will be advised privately about the situation and the methods to correct it.

The following code of conduct is intended to provide guidelines for the professional, ethical, legal, and socially responsible behavior we expect of our employees. While not intended to list all the forms of behavior that are considered unacceptable in the workplace, the following are examples of rule infractions or misconduct that may result in disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination of employment.

- Dishonesty
- Disorderly or immoral conduct, on or off the job, that may reflect badly on the agency's reputation.
- Excessive absenteeism, whether excused or unexcused
- Theft or inappropriate removal or possession of property
- Falsification of timekeeping records
- Working under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs
- Possession, manufacture, distribution, sale, transfer, dispensation or use of alcohol or illegal drugs in the workplace, or the or willful misuse of prescription drugs
- Fighting or threatening violence in the workplace
- Immoral actions or intimidating others
- Disruptive activity in the workplace
- Negligence or improper conduct leading to damage of Authority-owned or customer-owned property
- Insubordination or other disrespectful conduct
- Refusal to carry out or failure to obey the reasonable instructions of a person in charge
- Willfully or habitually violating safety or health regulations
- Smoking contrary to established policy or violating any other fire protection regulation
- Sexual or other unlawful or unwelcome harassment or inappropriate touching
- Using Authority equipment for purposes other than business (e.g., playing games on computers or personal Internet usage)
- Unauthorized disclosure of confidential information

- Violation of personnel policies
- Unsatisfactory performance or conduct
- Other conduct that threatens the safety or reputation of customers, visitors, or employees of the Knox County Housing Authority, or of the agency itself.

These examples are in no way a limitation on, or intended to change, the Authority's at-will policy. These rules apply to any and all interactions with customers, fellow employees or anyone else associated with the workplace.

All employees who suspect violations of the letter or spirit of the standards of conduct have an obligation to report their concerns to their manager or the Executive Director.

### CRIMINAL ACTIVITY and FRAUD/ABUSE

### **CRIMINAL ACTIVITY**

Criminal activity, or the concealment of such, will not be tolerated. While on duty, if an employee is cited or arrested for breaking the law for any reason, the employee shall report this matter, in writing, to the Executive Director as soon as possible but no later than five (5) calendar days from the date of the arrest or citation. Furthermore, employees shall report any citations for infractions which occur during the employee's off duty hours if the citation will have an impact upon the employee's ability to perform assigned duties.

For purposes herein, criminal activity shall mean:

- Any offense defined and prohibited by Article 9 (Homicide) of the Criminal Code of 2012, 720 ILCS 3/0-1, et seq.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by Article 19 (Kidnapping and related offenses) of the Criminal Code of 2012, 720 ILCS 5/10-1, et seq.
- Any offenses defined and prohibited by Article 11 and its subdivisions (Sex Offenses) of the Criminal Code of 2012, 720 ILCS 5/11-14, et seq.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by Article 12 (Bodily Harm) of the Criminal Code of 2012, 720 ILCS 5/12, et seq.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by Article 16 (Theft) of the Criminal Code of 2012, 720 ILCS 5/16-1, et seq.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by Article 20-2 (Possession of Explosives or Incendiary Devices) of the Criminal Code of 2012, 720 ILCS 5/20-2, et seq.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by Article 21-1 (Damage and Trespass to Property) of the Criminal Code of 2012, 720 ILCS 5/21-1, et seq.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by Article 24 (Deadly Weapons) of the Criminal Code of 2012, 720 ILCS 5/24-1, et seq.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by the Illinois Cannabis Control Act, 720 ILCS 550.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by the Illinois Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by the Illinois Controlled Substances Act, 720 ILCS 570.
- Any offenses defined and prohibited by Article 11 and its subdivisions (Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol) of the Vehicle Code of 2012, 625 ILCS 5/11-501, et seq.
- Any offense defined and prohibited by Federal Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. 801 et seq.

For the purposes of this policy, several factors will be considered in determining employee accountability for criminal activity including, but not limited to:

- A finding of responsibility for a crime by a court of law;
- Any finding of "guilty except by reason of insanity," "not guilty by reason of insanity," or similarly worded findings;
- A plea of "guilty" or "no contest" is also considered a conviction for the purpose of this policy; or
- A determination of accountability by the agency considering a preponderance of the evidence.

### **FRAUD**

The management of the Housing Authority is determined to prevent and/or detect fraud and to take the appropriate action if fraud is detected. As such, employees should be familiar with the types of improprieties that might occur within his or her area of responsibility, and be alert for any indication of irregularity.

Fraud encompasses an array of irregularities and illegal acts characterized by intentional deception. Irregularities and illegal acts refer to, but are not limited to:

- Any dishonest or fraudulent act;
- Forgery or alteration of any document or account belonging to the Housing Authority;
- Forgery or alteration of a check, bank draft, or any other financial document;
- Misappropriation of funds, securities, supplies, or other assets;
- Impropriety in the handling or reporting of money or financial transactions;
- Disclosing confidential and proprietary information to outside parties;
- Destruction, removal or inappropriate use of records, files, furniture, fixtures, and equipment;
- Deliberately providing incorrect information or failing to provide information as required for employment at the Housing Authority;
- Failure to follow HUD and HOUSING AUTHORITY housing program and policy requirements; or
- Any similar or related irregularity.

Any person who suspects dishonest or fraudulent activity must notify the Executive Director immediately, and should not attempt to personally conduct investigations or interviews/interrogations related to any suspected fraudulent act. The agency treats all information received confidentially. The employee or other complainant may remain anonymous; however, the Housing Authority reserves the right to disclose any information it considers necessary to prevent future fraudulent acts.

### **DISCIPLINARY ACTION**

Failure to report such incidents in accordance with this requirement may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

Involvement in criminal or fraudulent activity as described in this section will be considered grounds for termination of employment.

### **EMPLOYMENT AT WILL**

The Housing Authority hopes that its employees enjoy successful and fulfilling employment. However, this personnel policy handbook does not serve as a contract guaranteeing employment for any specific period of time. An employee or the Housing Authority may end the employment relationship at any time, with or without cause, notice, or reason. No supervisor, department head, executive staff member, agent, or other representative has the power or authority to enter into any agreement guaranteeing employment to anyone.

The Housing Authority also retains the same right to terminate someone's employment at any time, for any reason.

### **HARASSMENT**

The Authority believes that all individuals should be able to work in an environment free from any form of harassment. To ensure that all of us enjoy a harassment-free workplace, The Authority prohibits any offensive, physical, written or spoken conduct of a sexual or derogatory nature or based on an individual's race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, disability, genetic information or any other characteristic protected by law. Anyone engaging in sexual or other harassment will be subject to discipline, up to and including discharge. Prohibited conduct may include, but is not limited to:

- Sexual advances or demands for sexual favors. This includes subtle or blatant expectations to engage in sexual relations and pressure for dates.
- Comments of a sexual nature, such as telling "dirty jokes" and comments about body parts, appearance or clothing, where such comments go beyond mere courtesy.
- Insults, name calling, slurs, jokes or other remarks that are sexual or offensive in nature or demeaning to an individual's protected characteristics.
- Displays of sexual, offensive or discriminating matter such as posters, calendars, photographs, cartoons, graffiti or other offensive graphic displays.
- Physical, verbal or psychological abuse based on an individual's protected characteristics such
  as stereotyping, name calling, assaulting, sabotaging, segregating or threatening any individual
  in the workplace.
- Making a submission to or rejection of harassment the basis of any employment decision.

This policy applies not only to the workplace during normal business hours, but also to all work-related social functions, whether on or off the Authority premises, and business-related travel. The very nature of harassment makes it difficult to detect unless the problem is reported. Employees experiencing or observing harassment, therefore, are expected to promptly report the conduct. Complaints should be directed to the employee's supervisor or any other participating employee of management with whom the employee feels comfortable.

The Authority's commitment to providing individuals with a work environment that is free of harassment includes prohibiting inappropriate conduct by and to vendors, contractors, customers, and third parties. If an individual experiences or observes conduct that violates this policy by a vendor, contractor, customer, or third party, that individual should promptly direct a complaint to his or her supervisor or other participating employee of management. In addition, employees have the right to file a harassment complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

Complaints will be treated as confidentially as possible in light of the Authority's need to fully investigate the matter and take appropriate corrective action. Every precaution will be taken to preserve the dignity and privacy of the persons involved.

Employees who report harassment or who assist in the investigation of a complaint of harassment will **not** be subject to retaliation or reprisals of any kind. Any employee who engages in retaliation against another employee because of a complaint under this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including employment termination.

Complaints will be promptly investigated. Depending on the nature of the alleged harassment, interim measures may be taken. These measures might include temporary reassignments or separating the

alleged harasser and the employee alleging the harassment. If the investigation reveals that an employee has engaged in sexual or other harassment, that employee will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. In the case of client/customer or vendor harassment, the Authority will respond as appropriate in light of the nature of the relationship to the vendor, contractor, customer, or third party.

All managers and supervisors are responsible for the implementation of this policy and for ensuring that employees know and understand this policy. All employees will be held responsible and accountable for eliminating prohibited conduct.

Questions regarding this policy should be addressed directly to the Executive Director, who has overall responsibility for investigating and resolving harassment complaints at The Authority.

### SEXUAL HARASSMENT

### **POLICY**

The Housing Authority will not tolerate sexual harassment in the workplace. No employee—either male or female—should be subject to unwelcome verbal or physical conduct that is sexual in nature or that shows hostility to the employee because of the employee's gender. Sexual harassment refers to behavior that is not welcome, that is personally offensive, that debilitates morale, and that, therefore, interferes with work effectiveness. Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

The Housing Authority has a policy of zero tolerance for sexual harassment during work, during business involving the employer, or while on employer property by any employee (including supervisors and managers) or by any non-employee (including customers, visitors, and independent contractors).

Management at all levels is responsible for preventing workplace sexual harassment. This responsibility includes immediately reporting conduct by anyone—coworker, supervisor, or non-employee—that may constitute sexual harassment, even if the conduct was sanctioned and regardless of how awareness of conduct was gained.

### SEXUAL HARASSMENT DEFINED

Sexual harassment prohibited by law and by this policy includes, but is not limited to the following conduct:

- unwelcome verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when submission to the conduct is made either an explicit or implicit term or condition of employment (such as promotion, training, timekeeping, overtime assignments, leaves of absence); or
- unwelcome verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as a basis for making employment decisions; or
- unwelcome verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when the conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially interfering with a person's work performance, or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment; or
- unwelcome verbal or physical nonsexual conduct that denigrates or shows hostility toward a
  person because of his or her gender when the conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially
  interfering with a person's work performance, or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive
  work environment.

Examples of conduct prohibited by this policy include:

- Offering or implying an employment-related reward (such as a promotion or raise) in exchange for sexual favors or submission to sexual conduct.
- Threatening or taking of a negative employment action (such as termination, demotion, denial of a leave of absence) if sexual conduct is rejected.
- Unwelcome sexual advances or repeated flirtations.
- Unwelcome intentional touching of another person or other unwanted intentional physical contact (including patting, pinching, or brushing against another person's body).
- Asking unwelcome questions or making unwelcome comments about another person's sexual activities, dating, personal or intimate relationships, or appearance.

- Unwelcome whistling, staring, or leering at another person.
- Unwelcome sexually suggestive or flirtatious gifts, letters, notes, e-mail, or voice mail.
- Conduct or remarks that are sexually suggestive or that demean or show hostility to a person because of the person's gender (including jokes, pranks, teasing, obscenities, obscene or rude gestures or noises, slurs, epithets, taunts, negative stereotyping, threats, blocking of physical movement).
- Displaying or circulating pictures, objects, or written materials (including graffiti, cartoons, photographs, pinups, calendars, magazines, figurines, novelty items) that are sexually suggestive or that demean or show hostility to a person because of the person's gender.

### **PROCEDURE**

An employee who believes that he or she has been subjected to sexual harassment by anyone is encouraged—but not required—to promptly tell the person that the conduct is unwelcome and ask the person to stop the conduct. Anyone who receives such a request must immediately comply with it and must not retaliate against the employee.

If an individual believes he or she has been subject to illegal discrimination or harassment, he or she should report the conduct to his or her immediate supervisor, the Assistant Director, or the Executive Director or his/her designee. If an employee believes it would be inappropriate to discuss the matter with his or her supervisor, the employee should report it directly to the Assistant Director, or the Executive Director or his/her designee.

After receiving any employee's complaint of sexual harassment, the supervisor is required to immediately contact the Assistant Director or the Executive Director. If a supervisor has not received a complaint but suspects that conduct might constitute sexual harassment, the supervisor must immediately contact the Assistant Director or the Executive Director, regardless of how the supervisor became aware of the conduct. Even if the suspected sexual harassment was sanctioned or involves persons who work in a department other than the supervisor's, the supervisor must report it.

After notification of the employee's complaint, an investigation will immediately be initiated to gather all facts about the complaint. After completion of the investigation, a determination will be made by appropriate management regarding the resolution of the case. If warranted, disciplinary action up to and including discharge will be imposed. Other appropriate actions will be taken to correct problems caused by the conduct. All complaints will be handled as confidentially as possible.

### RETALIATION

This policy prohibits retaliation against employees who bring sexual harassment charges or assist in investigating charges. Any employee who reports sexual harassment or assists in an investigation will not be adversely affected in terms and conditions of employment, discriminated against or discharged because of the complaint. Retaliation in violation of this policy may result in discipline up to and including termination of employment.

### RESPECT AND PROFESSIONALISM IN THE WORKPLACE

We are committed to promoting and maintaining an environment in which all employees are treated with respect and dignity. As part of that commitment, we expect all employees to conduct themselves in a civil and cooperative manner. Disruptive and disrespectful workplace conduct in any form that interferes with an employee's ability to work efficiently and productively creates a hostile work environment and is prohibited. We will not tolerate disrespectful and disruptive behavior in the workplace or work-related settings. "Work-related settings" may include off-site events at which employees are present.

While not intended to list all the forms of behavior that are considered unacceptable in the workplace, the following are examples of behaviors or misconduct that may result in disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination of employment:

- Rude, unprofessional or otherwise inappropriate verbal comments;
- Inappropriate visual displays, including emails, screensavers, calendars and similar items;
- Initiating and/or spreading rumors or intentionally conveying false information about another individual;
- Refusing to cooperate with legitimate work-related requests;
- Behavior that creates a hostile work environment for other employees;
- Bullying or shouting; and
- Using abusive language and/or engaging in intimidating behavior

### Executive Staff and Program Managers are responsible to:

- Communicate all related policies and procedures to all staff;
- Ensure awareness and understanding of the contents of this memo and all subsequent related policies and procedures;
- Foster, nurture, and maintain a work environment which demonstrates respect and professionalism;
- Ensure that disruptive and disrespectful workplace conduct is not allowed, condoned, or ignored; and
- Prevent the development, escalation, or recurrence of incidents that violate the provisions of this memo and all subsequent related policies and procedures.

### Employees of the Housing Authority are responsible to:

- Read, fully understand, and fully comply with the provisions of this memo and all subsequent related policies and procedures;
- Treat all employees with respect;
- Notify his or her Program Manager, Assistant Director, or the Executive Director when disruptive and disrespectful workplace conduct occurs.

Any employee who believes someone has violated this policy should contact his or her Program Manager, the Assistant Director, or the Executive Director. All reasonable efforts will be made to resolve the situation. Reasonable efforts may include taking appropriate disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

### CONFLICT RESOLUTION/PROBLEM SOLVING PROCEDURE

It is the Authority's philosophy to communicate openly and candidly with you and encourage feedback from you about your job and the Authority. However, as an employee, you may have questions or concerns regarding your job, your performance and other employment matters. In most instances, those concerns or questions should be handled through a simple inquiry to your supervisor. If your manager does not know the answer, they will get the answer and respond to you promptly. If you are not comfortable addressing the matter to your supervisor, you may contact the Executive Director or any other participating employee of management with whom you feel comfortable. If you believe the situation requires a more formal response, or if you are not satisfied with the answer that you receive, you may utilize the following problem-solving procedure:

- 1. Put your inquiry or concern in writing. An appointment will be scheduled for you to discuss the problem with your manager. They will give you a prompt response.
- 2. If you are not satisfied with the response provided by your manager, or the complaint is in regards to your manager, you may work directly with the Executive Director. A time will be set up for you to present your concern, which may involve having other individuals present to describe the facts.
- 3. The manager (or Executive Director) shall facilitate meetings, gather information, and review policies and procedures. The manager/Executive Director will establish meeting timelines and guidelines and work collaboratively on problem solving. Each of the affected parties shall be met with, separately and/or together, as they determine is appropriate.
- 4. After this meeting, you will receive a response, which may be in writing, within 15 working days from the completion of the complaint investigation.

All reports of a complaint will be dealt with in a confidential manner. Confidentiality will be maintained to the fullest extent possible, consistent with the need to conduct an adequate investigation of the report. The Housing Authority will not discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in any other manner discriminate against any employee in the terms and conditions of employment based upon any lawful action of such employees with respect to reporting a complaint in accordance with this policy, which he or she reasonably believes to be true. The Housing Authority cannot accept an employee that purposely makes a report that he or she knows or has reason to believe to be based on false information. Making such false reports will have consequences for the employee (up to and including termination of employment) and, in addition, the employee may be liable for damages toward the agency and any person who has suffered damages from such false report.

Not all conflicts will be resolved to the petitioner's satisfaction by using this approach but they will all be addressed. The determination of the Executive Director shall be final.

### CONFIDENTIALITY

The Authority maintains certain information which it considers to be confidential, including but not limited to the following: the financial affairs of the Authority; budgetary information; Authority employee information; tenant information; and any and all other confidential information provided by the Authority to the employee and which is maintained as confidential and/or marked as "confidential."

The materials, products, designs, plans, ideas, data and all other proprietary and confidential information belonging to the Authority are the property of the Authority and should never be given to an outside firm or individual without appropriate authorization from the Executive Director. Any improper transfer of material or disclosure of information, even though it is not apparent that an employee has personally gained by such action, constitutes unacceptable conduct. Any employee who participates in such a practice will be subject to disciplinary action, including termination, and possible legal action.

Unless required in the course of their business responsibilities, no employee is authorized to make copies, excerpts or compilations of any of the confidential information or to take that information from the Authority's premises without the permission of the Executive Director.

### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Employees must avoid conflicts of interest. Employees shall also avoid using their knowledge or awareness of any Housing Authority actions or potential actions that are not public knowledge for personal gain, financial or otherwise. Violation of one or more of the following rules of conduct may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

No employee of the Authority shall acquire any interest, direct or indirect, in any housing project or in a project included or planned to be included in any project, nor shall he/she have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or proposed contract for materials or services to be furnished or used in connection with any housing project. If any employee of the Authority owns or controls an interest direct or indirect in any property included or planned to be included in any housing project, he/she shall immediately disclose the same in writing to the Authority. Failure to disclose such interest shall constitute misconduct in office.

No employee of the Authority shall directly or indirectly solicit any gift or accept or receive any gift having a value of \$50.00 or more, whether in the form of money, services, loan, travel, entertainment, hospitality, thing or promise, or any other form, under circumstances in which it could reasonably be inferred that the gift was intended to influence him or her, or could reasonably be expected to influence him or her, in the performance of his or her official duties, or was intended as a reward for any official action on his or her part.

The employment of members of the immediate families of the Executive Director, executive staff members, and the members of the Board of Commissioners are strictly prohibited. Every attempt shall be made to avoid two members of an immediate family being employed in the same administrative department at the same time (including instances with two members of an immediate family being employed at the same time if such employment will result in an employee directly or indirectly supervising a member of his immediate family). The Executive Director may grant special permission to allow immediate family members to work within the same department if he/she determines it to be in the best interest of the Housing Authority.

Immediate family is defined as wife, husband, mother, father, daughter, son, sister, brother, half-sister, half-brother, stepmother, stepfather, stepson, stepsister, stepbrother, stepdaughter, grandmother, grandfather, granddaughter, grandson, mother-in-law, father-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, sister-in-law, and brother-in-law.

Fraternization between the following groups is prohibited by this policy when it leads to a potential conflict of interest:

- Housing Authority employees and Housing Authority residents;
- Housing Authority employees and Housing Authority contractors and vendors;
- Housing Authority employees and other Housing Authority employees.

In regards to fraternization, a conflict of interest shall be defined as (but not limited to) any social relationship that has potential to cause a negative impact on staff morale, unlawful favoritism/discrimination, interfere with general business operations or create a hostile work environment.

### **OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT**

The work of the Housing Authority shall have precedence over all outside employment.

An employee must provide notice of outside employment for approval by the employee's Program Manager, who must determine if the requested employment violates any of the terms of Housing Authority policies. This written approval or disapproval shall be placed in the employee's personnel file. Employees may appeal the Program Manager's decision to the Executive Director.

No time during Housing Authority working hours shall be used to promote or carry out outside employment.

No employee shall engage in outside employment, which impairs the efficiency of Housing Authority services or results in any conflict of interest with the Housing Authority.

Any violation of this policy on outside employment shall be grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination.

### POLITICAL ACTIVITIES

All full-time Housing Authority employees and all part-time Housing Authority employees whose employment with Housing Authority is their primary employment are subject to the provisions of the Hatch Act and to all amendments made thereto.

Every eligible employee may exercise his/her right to vote in all legal elections. However, Housing Authority employees shall not;

- Be required as a duty of office or employment or as a condition for employment, promotion or tenure of office, to contribute funds for political or partisan purposes;
- Coerce or compel contributions for political or partisan purposes by any other employee of the Housing Authority, or use official authority or influence to coerce the political action of any person or party;
- Use any supplies or equipment of the Housing Authority for partisan political purposes;
- Be a candidate for public office in a partisan election;
- Be a candidate for public office in a non-partisan election, unless on unpaid leave of absence which has been authorized by the CEO or his/her designee for such purpose.

Any Housing Authority employee who wishes to run for a Federal, State, or Local elective office in a non-partisan election may request permission from the CEO or his/her designee to be placed in unpaid leave of absence status for the duration of the campaign (for a maximum of 90 days).

Violations of any of these prohibitions may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

### SMOKE FREE WORKPLACE

The Smoking Policy is designed to foster the health and safety of all employees, residents, and visitors in the conduct of the Housing Authority business. It is not intended to totally prohibit smoking on Housing Authority properties, but does restrict smoking to certain areas. Smoking is permitted only in outside areas in accordance with the Smoke Free Illinois Act and federal regulations set forth at 24 CFR 965.653. Smoking is not permitted in employee workspaces or in any building owned by the Housing Authority.

Smoking can damage sensitive technical equipment and can be a safety hazard. Smoking is prohibited where combustible fumes can collect, such as in garage and storage areas, areas where chemicals are used, and all other designated areas where an occupational safety or health hazard might exist.

Smoking is not permitted in Housing Authority vehicles. The Housing Authority, in its sole discretion, may designate other locations where smoking is prohibited. Any personal breaks taken from work to smoke should not interfere with the employee's overall work productivity or performance.

All employees, visitors and guests on Housing Authority properties are expected to honor all provisions of this Smoking Policy as well as local related laws.

### ALCOHOL AND CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE ABUSE

It has been established that the abuse of alcohol and controlled substances (drugs) can constitute a real threat to those who abuse these substances and those who work with such individuals.

Because of the possible effects to the individual, other employees, and the Authority, it is the policy of the Authority to maintain a workplace that is free from the effects of illegal drugs and the misuse of alcohol. The Authority will not tolerate or condone alcohol misuse or substance abuse.

To that end, employees who engage in the sale of, possess, transfer or offer to buy or sell illegal drugs or controlled substances, use or are under the influence of drugs or alcohol during working hours or on Authority property, or abuse prescribed drugs will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. Employees are also prohibited from using illegal drugs while away from the workplace.

"Illegal drugs" means any controlled substance, medication, or other chemical substance that (1) is not legally obtainable; or (2) is legally obtainable, but is not legally obtained, is not being used legally, or is not being used for the purpose(s) for which it was prescribed or intended by the manufacturer. Thus, "illegal drugs" may include even over-the-counter medications, if they are not being used for the purpose(s) for which they were intended by the manufacturer.

Under no circumstances is an employee of the Authority to report to work, drive an Authority-owned vehicle or operate Authority equipment while under the influence of drugs or alcohol. This includes periods of time when the employee is considered to be "on-call" where they may be summoned to perform off-hours work.

Supervisors should immediately report to the Executive Director any action by an employee that demonstrates an unusual behavior pattern or who is suspected of being under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol. Employees may be tested for drugs and alcohol at the discretion of the Authority.

### DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY

This policy establishes rules and procedures for drug and alcohol testing based on reasonable cause to believe that an employee is using alcohol or illegal drugs in the workplace, is abusing controlled substances in the workplace, or is performing official duties while under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs, or controlled substance abuse.

Any employee who is reasonably suspected of using alcohol or illegal drugs or of abusing controlled substances in the workplace or of performing official duties while under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs, or abused controlled substances may be required to undergo an alcohol and/or drug test. "Reasonable cause" exists when an employee exhibits patterns of behavior that suggest impairment from drug or alcohol use or when job performance or safety is affected. An employee may be requested to take a drug and/or alcohol test if management officials or supervisors have reasonable cause to believe that the employee's faculties are impaired while at work due to drug or alcohol use.

Any observed behavior which reasonably suggests that the employee is using drugs, controlled substances, or is under the influence of alcohol may result in immediate action as outlined in this policy. The following behavioral, performance, physical, and paraphernalia indicators will be considered when determining reasonable cause:

- lower productivity
- deteriorating work quality
- poor morale
- increased minor accidents, mistakes
- multiple reports of theft, missing personal items by co-workers
- sudden change in attitude, work, or behavior- a new, "I don't care attitude"
- sudden deterioration of relationships
- "explosive" arguments and disagreements over small matters
- frequent hangover symptoms
- using drug culture jargon
- secretive behavior
- erratic behavior-forgetfulness-indecision
- deterioration in personal appearance and hygiene
- hyper-activity, constant toe or heel-tapping and/or "drumming" of fingers
- easy excitability
- restlessness, increased physical activity
- bloodshot or watery eyes
- speech pattern changes, slurred speech, faster speech, slower speech
- tremors or jitters
- constant scratching of skin, "picking" at skin and hair on arms, etc.
- poor coordination, tripping, spilling, bumping into things and other people
- large or small (dilated) pupils
- a faint skin odor- either sweet or acrid
- easily fatigued or constantly fatigued
- possession of hypodermic needles, balloons, aluminum foil wrappers, mirrors or flat metal, short straws, glass pipes, smoking pipes, capsules, vials, or folded paper envelopes, a cigarette lighter (or small butane torch) when carried by a known "non-smoker"

Other actions or behavior not enumerated above as indicators of alcohol or illegal drug use or controlled substances abuse also may constitute reasonable cause for alcohol and/or drug testing. Whenever possible before an employee is required to submit to testing based on reasonable suspicion, the employee shall be observed by more than one supervisory or managerial employee who has successfully completed a certified training program to recognize drug and alcohol abuse.

Upon reasonable cause to believe that an employee possesses or is using alcohol or illegal drugs in the workplace, is abusing controlled substances in the workplace, or is performing official duties while under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs, or controlled substance abuse the manager is to take the following action:

- Immediately notify the Executive Director. If possible, the supervisor should have another supervisor also observe and evaluate the employee's behavior.
- Escort the employee in question to Executive Director's office so that the employee in question can be interviewed privately and confidentially.

- Ask the employee to explain the situation and condition surrounding the incident and/or behavior. Document the explanation. If the explanation is not considered to be a reasonable one, the employee may be required to take a drug test as stipulated by this policy.
- Explain to the employee the implications of the testing, the possible outcome for the person's employment, and the consequences if the employee refuses to submit to the testing.
- Contact OSF Occupational Health at (309) 344-9411 to schedule the alcohol/drug screen.
- Transport said employee to the testing facility.

The KCHA shall provide transportation for the employee to the testing facility and may send a representative to accompany the employee to the testing facility. Under no circumstances may an employee thought to be under the influence of alcohol or a drug be allowed to operate a vehicle or other equipment for any purpose. The employee shall have the right to request a representative or designee to be present at the time he or she is directed to provide a specimen for testing based upon reasonable suspicion.

Collection of samples will be done at OSF Occupational Health at St. Mary's Hospital in Galesburg, IL. Breath alcohol analysis and urinalysis will be the methods of sample collection. The agency will utilize a chain of custody testing process, in which samples are sent to a certified laboratory for screening. Results are generally expected to be returned in 24 – 72 hours. During this testing period, the employee shall be removed from the job site and placed on paid administrative leave pending the employer's receipt of notice of the test results. If the test results are negative, the employee may return to normal work duties. If the test result is positive for drugs or alcohol, the employee shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to can including termination of employment.

The Authority will pay for any drug or alcohol test that it requests or requires.

The Authority will work with appropriate medical professionals to properly communicate positive test results to test subjects. Employees may request, in writing, a copy of their test result report provided that the Housing Authority receives the request within five (5) calendar days after the employee has been informed of the positive test result. The Authority will not disclose test results except as authorized by the test subject or as authorized, permitted, or required by applicable law.

Employees may refuse to undergo drug and alcohol testing. However, employees who refuse to undergo testing or who fail to cooperate with the testing procedures (1) may be subject to discipline, up to and including termination of employment; and/or (2) may result in the denial of Workers' Compensation Benefits and the employee may be required to incur the medical and testing costs related to the accident, injury or illness.

Any employee who tests positive on a confirmatory drug and alcohol test required by the Housing Authority (1) may be subject to discipline, up to and including immediate termination; and/or (2) may result in the denial of Workers' Compensation Benefits and the employee may be required to incur the medical and testing costs related to the accident, injury or illness.

Any employee who tests positive on a confirmatory drug and alcohol test required by The Authority, may request, in writing, the opportunity to explain the positive test result in a confidential setting, provided that the Housing Authority receives the request within five (5) calendar days after the employee has been informed of the positive test result. Furthermore, any employee who tests positive on a confirmatory drug and alcohol test required by the Housing Authority may request, in writing, the

confirmatory retest of the original sample, at his or her own expense, provided that the Housing Authority receives the request within five (5) calendar days after the employees has been informed of the positive test result. Confirmatory retests requested and paid for by the employee may be conducted only by laboratories that are properly approved to conduct drug and alcohol testing.

### INCLEMENT WEATHER

The agency must continue to operate during periods of bad weather. Thus, the need for employees to be on the job during such emergencies is of paramount importance. You are expected to make every effort to report for work. If you do not report for work when scheduled during a weather emergency, it will be considered an unauthorized absence.

Under certain weather conditions or emergency situations that cause the Authority to be closed for the entire workday, closings will be communicated through designated radio stations or television stations. Under similar conditions that require the closing of the Authority after the start of the normal workday, we will give employees as much advance notice as possible. Only the Executive Director of the agency, or his/her designee, has the authority to determine closings under these circumstances.

When the Executive Director determines that the workday is to be discontinued, employees who are at work and leave will be paid for the full workday. If the Authority is closed prior to the start of the day, employees will be paid for the entire workday; assuming they were scheduled to work.

Every employee is expected to report for work any time the Authority is open. Employees who do not report for work due to the weather may have the absence count as part of their attendance record. Non-exempt employees will be required to take a sick, vacation, or personal day for this type of absence.

### **OPERATION OF AGENCY VEHICLES**

The purpose of this policy is to establish and specify policy on vehicle transportation for Housing Authority officials and employees in the conduct of official Housing Authority business.

Automobiles, vans, golf carts, multi-purpose vehicles and light trucks may be assigned to an individual employee when the work assignment requires the use of the vehicle. Housing Authority vehicles represent the Housing Authority and are not to be used to advertise (i.e.: bumper stickers) the personal opinions of the operators. Any alterations to the appearance or mechanical function of a Housing Authority vehicle is strictly prohibited. Any employee who operates a Housing Authority vehicle must possess a valid driver's license issued by the State of Illinois. From time to time, employees may be required to show their driver's license as proof that the license has not been revoked, suspended, or has not expired.

Housing Authority and privately-owned vehicles being operated for Housing Authority business shall be operated in accordance with all safety and legal requirements of the Housing Authority, state and any other jurisdictions in which they are operated.

An employee may be held liable for accidents in which he/she is involved if it is determined that the accident is the result of his/her negligence. The driver of the vehicle and/or person to whom the vehicle is assigned may be held financially responsible for the damages, and may be required to submit to a substance abuse test in accordance with the Substance Abuse policy. An employee will be personally responsible for paying any citation received while operating a Housing Authority or personal vehicle driven for Housing Authority business.

If the automobile insurance company advises that an employee who is an authorized operator of a Housing Authority vehicle is a high-risk driver, that employee's driving privilege may be suspended until such time as the insurance company determines that his/her driving habits are sufficiently improved as evidenced by the Department of Motor Vehicle records.

The Housing Authority has implemented procedural requirements for vehicle management. Housing Authority employees must comply with said requirements as set forth in this policy or in separate documents. Failure to comply with such may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

### **Vehicle Management**

It is the policy of the Housing Authority to provide for central management of its fleet vehicles and motorized equipment, including its purchase, ownership, maintenance and repair, replacement and disposal. The management of the vehicle fleet shall be under the direction of the department head or his/her designee. The maintenance and disposal of the vehicle shall coincide with the current procurement policies and procedures.

### **Vehicle Assignments**

It is the policy of the Housing Authority to monitor and control the number of vehicles allocated to departments. Vehicle assignments shall be based upon actual and demonstrated need in order to

conduct official Housing Authority business. No person other than a Housing Authority official or employee shall be authorized to operate a Housing Authority vehicle.

### Use of Privately-owned Vehicles for Official Housing Authority Business

Use of privately-owned vehicles for Housing Authority business must be authorized by the department head. Employees who are not assigned an individual vehicle or do not have access to a pool vehicle may be reimbursed at the current Housing Authority mileage rate (which is equal to the current Internal Revenue Service (IRS) mileage reimbursement). Each month, the employee is to document their business mileage by completing a Mileage Record Form in order to receive reimbursement.

### **AUTHORITY COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS**

Electronic Communications Devices ("ECDs") include, but are not limited to cellular phones, smart phones, tablets, radios, and any other wireless device used for communication. Housing Authority owned or issued ECDs are intended to be used for Housing Authority business. The Housing Authority understands, however, that extenuating circumstances may arise in which employees may need to use their Housing Authority owned or issued ECD for personal reasons. Personal use should be kept at a minimum and shall not be abused. Excess personal use of Housing Authority ECDs may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. Excess use of personally owned ECDs that interferes with the successful completion of job duties may also result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Employees who require the use of an ECD in the performance of their Housing Authority duties will follow all applicable local and state requirements as it pertains to use of ECDs and operation of a motor vehicle. ECD use shall be avoided while operating a Housing Authority or personal vehicle to conduct Housing Authority business. Employees are prohibited from using ECDs to send or read text messages or emails while driving. Employees must adhere to all federal, state, and local laws and guidelines regarding ECD use at all times. Failure to do so may also result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

The Housing Authority reserves the right, for legitimate business reasons, to audit and review calls, text messages, and any other communications made using a Housing Authority owned or issued ECD. Housing Authority employees shall have no expectation of privacy with regards to calls, text messages, or other communications made using a Housing Authority owned or issued ECDs.

Employees who violate this Electronic Communications policy are subject to discipline up to and including termination.

### COMPUTER, INTERNET, AND EMAIL USGAE POLICY

Most Housing Authority employees will require access to computers, e-mail addresses, and/or the Internet to perform their Housing Authority job duties. The security, integrity, and proper usage of Housing Authority computers, email addresses, and internet access is a necessity for the effective conduct of Housing Authority business. The intent of this policy is to safeguard the security and integrity of the Housing Authority's information system, assure reasonable access to computer based information, and prevent inappropriate use of Housing Authority computers, e-mail addresses, or internet access.

This Policy covers all Housing Authority owned or issued Computers, e-mail addresses, and Housing Authority provided Internet access, regardless of the time or location of use. \*\*Please note: this includes, but is not limited to, e-mail or internet access obtained through Housing Authority issued electronic communications devices such as cellular phones, smart phones, and tabletss. This policy applies to all employees of the Housing Authority. Additionally, this policy applies to all outside contractors and consultants who have been given authorized access to any of the Housing Authority's computer based information systems.

Housing Authority employees may not engage in misuse of Housing Authority computers, Housing Authority e-mail addresses, or Housing Authority provided internet access. Examples of such misuse include, but are not limited to:

- Downloading software without approval from a supervisor;
- Copying software, unless such copying is for legitimate, back-up purposes and has been approved by a supervisor;
- Knowingly introducing a computer virus, worm, "Trojan horse," or any other contaminating or destructive features into the Housing Authority's computers;
- Transmitting copyrighted materials without permission;
- Transmitting, forwarding, or downloading material that is offensive, abusive, pornographic, obscene, profane, discriminatory, harassing, fraudulent, or otherwise prohibited by federal, state, or local law;
- Using e-mail or the Internet for any purpose that is illegal, against company policy, or contrary to the Housing Authority's best interest;
- Transmitting or disseminating confidential Housing Authority or resident information or other proprietary materials without an express business purpose or authorization;
- Sending or forwarding any chain e-mail, broadcast e-mail, or spam;
- Receive or forward unsolicited e-mails that violate company policy;
- Attempt to defeat any security mechanisms to gain unauthorized access to computer files or other information on the Housing Authority's telephone systems, electronic communication systems, or information systems;
- Attempting to read, intercept, copy, or delete e-mails sent or received by other users;
- Posting or transmitting any message anonymously or under a false name or permitting any other individual to do so;
- Impersonating another person;
- Collecting information about others, including e-mail addresses, without their consent.
- Browsing through information or files on Housing Authority computers or networks not directly related to the employee's job.

Misuse of Housing Authority computers, email addresses, or internet access may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. In addition, such misuse may also be reported to appropriate federal, state, or local authorities.

The Housing Authority has the right, but not the duty, to monitor any and all aspects of its computer system, including employee e-mail, and internet usage to ensure compliance with this policy. Therefore, employees should be aware of the following:

- Employees should not have an expectation of privacy in anything they create, send, or receive using a Housing Authority computer, email address, or any other form of electronic communication.
- All information generated on the computer is the property of the Housing Authority and is subject to subpoena for legal purposes.
- Unless otherwise provided by law, any document, file, or other record a Housing Authority employee creates, sends, or receives using a Housing Authority computer, email address, or other electronic communications device will be subject to disclosure under the Illinois Freedom of Information Act.
- Department Heads have the responsibility to assure that vigilant computer security procedures are followed for their area.

### **SOCIAL MEDIA**

The Housing Authority recognizes the increasing use of social media as a communication tool. This Social Media Policy addresses Housing Authority employees' use of social media. For the purpose of this Policy, the Housing Authority considers the term "social media" to include, but not be limited to:

- personal websites;
- web logs ("blogs") or microblogs (e.g., "Twitter");
- "wikis";
- social networking websites (e.g., "Facebook", "LinkedIn");
- online media sharing websites (e.g. "YouTube," "Flickr");
- online forums, message boards, or bulletin boards.

The Housing Authority acknowledges that some of its employees may choose to use social media on their own time for personal purposes. Housing Authority rules and policies apply to the conduct and communications of Housing Authority employees while using social media just as those rules and policies apply to conduct and communications in any other setting. In addition, Housing Authority employees are prohibited from using social media in any manner that:

- Violates any federal, state, or local laws or regulations;
- Violates any Housing Authority policy, rule, standard, or requirement;
- Disrupts or hinders the Housing Authority's operations;
- Infringes on any third-party rights, including but not limited to intellectual property rights such as copyrights or trademarks;
- Is defamatory, libelous, or might be construed as harassment or disparagement on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, disability or any other legally protected status;
- Discloses confidential information related to Housing Authority business, residents, employees, or other matters;
- Is detrimental in any manner to the Knox County Housing Authority.

Employees are reminded that information (e.g., comments, blog entries, photographs, videos) posted or communicated using social media may often be accessible by virtually anyone with internet access. This may include other Housing Authority employees, such as supervisors and subordinates, as well as Housing Authority residents. Also, once information is posted or uploaded onto a social media website or network, it can be nearly impossible to completely remove or eliminate. Housing Authority employees are therefore encouraged to use good judgment if they use social media.

Employees are also reminded that, pursuant to the Computer, Email, and Internet Usage Policy, and the Electronic Communications Policy, they have no expectation of privacy with respect to the use of any Housing Authority owned or issued computer or electronic communications device.

Use of social media by a Housing Authority employee in violation of this Policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

### Section 4 Employee Classification and Compensation

### RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION OF EMPLOYEES

All personnel employed by the Housing Authority shall be selected from the files of applications for employment. It is the responsibility of the Executive Director or designee to advertise, recruit, coordinate interviews, test if applicable, and refer applicants to the appropriate manager. All posted jobs will be open to current internal employees and external applicants (unless stated for internal applicants only).

Persons desiring employment shall file written applications, resumes, and other required documents setting forth their qualifications for employment and such other information as may be required.

As part of the selection and hiring process, criminal and driving records will be obtained for all potential employees. Criminal records will be reviewed for prior offenses, with consideration given to the nature of the offense and length of time since the offense occurred. Consideration will be given to the applicant if the offense is more than three (3) years old, or if the offender is currently enrolled in or has completed an Offenders Program. Consideration will also be given to the seriousness of the offense, as well as the nexus of the offense to the work performed at the Housing Authority.

### Job Posting

The announcement of an open position will contain, at a minimum, the following:

- Job title
- A description of the duties of the vacant position
- Hiring salary range
- Required qualifications

When a position becomes vacant, it will generally be open to internal applicants first. The position will be posted in conspicuous locations visible to all employees within a reasonable time of the position becoming vacant. Employees who are interested in applying for a posted position have three (3) business days from the date the announcement to respond by completing and submitting the required documents to the Executive Director. The qualifications of an employee applicant are as follows:

- Should have been in current position for six (6) months or longer;
- Should have been an employee of the Housing Authority for at least one (1) year and must have had an acceptable evaluation rating on the most recent performance evaluation (as applicable).

Once the time period has lapsed for internal applications to be submitted, the position will be posted externally for five (5) days. The posting will be made using a method that best serves the Housing Authority's need for reaching qualified applicants.

At its sole discretion, the Housing Authority may run the internal and external postings concurrently. Internal applicants, as well as external applicants, may compete and be considered simultaneously for the vacancy. From this group of internal and external applicants, the employing manager will make a recommendation for promotion or employment. The Executive Director has final authority over the selection process. Once the selection has been made and the applicant accepts, the other applicants will be notified of the selection.

Exceptions to the applicant eligibility requirements may be made at the discretion of management (based on the Housing Authority's organizational needs).

### SALARY ADMINISTRATION

Salaries will be administered in a fair and systematic manner in accordance with the most current HOUSING AUTHORITY Salary Range schedule.

A salary range shall be assigned to each position, and the rate of compensation for each employee shall be within the range established for the position of the employee to which his/her position has been allocated. Appropriate compensation rates shall be established on the basis of industry comparability.

An employee (new hire or promoted existing) is appointed at the rate of the appropriate salary range for their position commensurate with applicable experience, unless otherwise approved by the Executive Director or his/her designee.

Salary increases shall be granted in the Housing Authority's sole discretion, and shall be based upon job performance and availability of Housing Authority allocated funds.

Salary increases based on merit will occur as of April 1 of the year in which it is determined that a merit increase will be given (at the Housing Authority's sole discretion). Employees whose salary is at the max of the pay range will not be eligible for a merit increase.

Salary bonuses/incentives based on a combination of job performance and company-wide accomplished goals may be considered, if the budget allows. These incentive bonuses shall be granted towards the end of each calendar year (in December) at the discretion of the Executive Director or his/her designee.

### **EMPLOYMENT CLASSIFICATIONS**

The following employment classifications have been established for overtime and benefit purposes:

Non-exempt full-time: An employee who is regularly scheduled to work thirty-seven and half

(37.5) or more hours per week. Full-time employees are eligible for full Authority benefits, provided they meet the requirements of the benefit

plan.

Non-exempt part-time: Regular part-time employees are regularly scheduled to work less than

37.5 hours but more than 30 hours in the workweek. Part-time

employees may be eligible for certain benefits, provided they meet the

requirements of the benefit plan.

<u>Casual/Temporary</u> All non-regular employees are casual/temporary employees.

Casual/temporary employees are regularly scheduled to work any combination of full- or part-time hours in the workweek, but casual

employees are hired for a specified period of hours only. Casual/temporary employees are not eligible for benefits.

Exempt employees: Full-time or part-time employees who are paid on a salaried basis in

excess of \$684.00 weekly (\$35,568.00 annually) and perform executive, administrative, or professional duties are exempt from the minimum wage, overtime, and certain timekeeping provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), as amended, and applicable state law. Exempt

employees are not eligible to receive overtime.

Nonexempt employees: Full-time or part-time employees who do not meet the exemption

thresholds are not exempt from minimum wage, overtime and timekeeping provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), as amended and applicable state law. Nonexempt employees are eligible

to receive overtime pay.

### **Changes In Classification:**

When an employee's status is changed from regular full-time or regular part-time to casual, the employee forfeits all accrued benefits except those to which they are legally entitled.

When changing from regular part-time to regular full-time, benefits will be increased to regular full-time commencing with the month following the month of change.

When changing from regular full-time to regular part-time, benefits will be decreased to regular part-time commencing with the month following the month of change.

When changing from regular full-time or regular part-time to casual, benefits will be decreased to casual status commencing with the month following the month of change.

### SPECIAL PAY STRUCTURE

### **Overtime**

Compensation for overtime shall be paid in accordance with applicable federal and state law.

All overtime must be authorized in advance by the Executive Director, except in bona fide emergency situations in which case a program manager may approve overtime.

Non-exempt employees shall be paid overtime at a rate of 1-1/2 times their regular hourly rate for hours worked in excess of forty hours (40.0) in a one-week work period.

Employees may elect to take compensatory "comp" time in lieu of receiving overtime pay, at the rate of 1-1/2 times the hours worked in excess of 40 hours per week. Compensatory time may be taken at the discretion of the employee and the Executive Director.

### On-Call Pay

Non-exempt non-clerical maintenance employees may be assigned to "on-call" duty during hours outside of normal operations for maintenance emergencies. Work assignments during on-call duty may be beyond the normal work performed by the employees, but will be within their capabilities. On-call duty should be assigned on a rotational basis among qualified employees. Employees who are assigned on-call duty must be able to work during the entire on-call assignment.

Employees normally will not be paid for on-call time when waiting to be called, unless otherwise required by law, or properly determined by the Executive Director or his/her designee. Employees will be paid at their overtime rate for time worked when responding to a call, unless said employees respond to a call on a holiday, in which case said employees will be paid in accordance with the Section III.5 "Holiday Compensation" in these Personnel Policies.

### PAY PERIODS AND PAYDAYS

Housing Authority employees will be paid on a bi-weekly basis, every other Friday. If payday falls on a holiday, employees will be paid on the last work day prior to the holiday.

For your protection, checks can only be released to the individual whose name appears on the check. An exception to this will be made when an employee has given written authorization and has then verified this with program manager.

### **Payroll Adjustments**

The Authority complies with all state and federal regulations for proper payment of its employees, and takes every precaution to determine the appropriateness of each deduction. Any employee, who believes that an error was made on his/her paycheck, must notify the Authority within 15 days of the pay period in which the error was allegedly made. If it is determined that an adjustment is necessary, the adjustment will normally be made on the next paycheck. Further, the Authority will take actions to remedy any processes necessary to ensure future errors will not occur.

Should you have any questions about your paycheck, contact your supervisor or the payroll department.

### HEALTH INSURANCE COVERAGE

Knox County Housing Authority provides fully paid group health insurance to all regularly scheduled employees working 37.5 hours or more per week. Insurance benefits begin the first of the month in which the employee would reach 90 calendar days of employment.

The group health benefit is a comprehensive co-payment plan which is designed to provide a percentage of payment for certain benefits in the event of non-work-related illness or injury. While the Authority does not require employees to contribute to the cost of the health insurance premium at this time, you are required to meet annual deductibles and co-payments as specified in the policy.

You will receive periodic updates to the health plans provided by the Authority. It is your responsibility to read them. Knox County Housing Authority reserves the right to add, amend or change any and all benefits, premium amounts and employee contribution amounts at any time.

This plan is subject to co-payments and deductibles; please refer to your plan materials for coverage detail. The cost of the premium is shared by both the Authority and the participant on a pre-tax basis.

The Housing Authority will review insurance rates on an annual basis, and may make changes to coverage at the discretion of the Board of Commissioners and the Executive Director.

### RETIREMENT PLAN

After six months of employment, all regularly scheduled employees become qualified to participate in the Authority's retirement plan. Under this plan the Authority contributes 15.3% of the employee's annual wage or salary to the employee's account with the designated plan administrator.

During the first year of participation in the retirement plan employees are 50% vested. Should an employee leave prior to the end of the first year of employment they would receive one half of the funds contributed on their behalf. Employees become fully vested after five years of continuous employment.

Prior government or military service may apply for the purposes of calculating the percentage of value in an employee's retirement account.

# **Section 5 Time Away From Work**

### LEAVES OF ABSENCE

The Authority will consider employee requests for absence from work on either a short-term or long-term basis under certain circumstances. In general, requests for leave will be based upon the circumstances of each individual leave request, the needs of the Authority and any applicable state or federal laws that may apply to the leave. (See each leave for specific information.)

Employees should submit a request for the leave to their supervisor or the Executive Director as far in advance as possible, normally 30 days. When emergency situations arise and it is not possible to give prior notice, employees are required to notify their supervisor or the Executive Director as soon as they are aware of the need for a leave of absence, but no later than two (2) working days after the occurrence of the leave.

If you are on an approved leave, you must contact your supervisor prior to the expiration of the leave to confirm your return date. If the leave is for medical reasons, the Authority may request, at its discretion, a fitness for duty report from your health care provider verifying your disability and/or ability to return to work. Failure to return to work on the day after the expiration of leave will be considered a voluntary resignation. Request for an extension of a short-term or long-term leave of absence must be submitted to the Authority in writing prior to the expiration of the leave of absence.

Employees are generally not authorized to maintain outside employment while on a leave of absence from the Authority. Any exceptions must be discussed with the Executive Director.

Every effort will be made to re-employ you in your former position upon your return from an authorized leave. Except where mandated by law, we cannot guarantee that your position will remain open in your absence. If there is no vacancy, you may be offered another opening for which you are qualified, if available.

### **TYPES OF LEAVE**

The following types of leaves will be considered:

- 1) Family Medical Leave
- Personal
- 3) Bereavement
- 4) Jury Duty
- 5) Military
- 6) VESSA

### **FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE**

Employees who have worked for the agency for at least twelve (12) months may take up to twelve (12) weeks of unpaid leave (FMLA leave) for the following reasons:

- Birth of a child of the employee
- Placement of a child into the employee's family by adoption or by a foster care arrangement
- Care of the employee's spouse, child or parent who has a serious health condition

- Inability of the employee to perform the functions of the employee's position due to a serious health condition.
- A "qualifying exigency" arising from the fact that the employee's spouse, son, daughter or parent is on (or has been called to) active duty in the Armed Forces during deployment to a foreign country.

An eligible employee who is the spouse, son, daughter, parent or next of kin of a participating employee or veteran of the Armed Forces (including the National Guard or Reserves) may take up to twenty-six (26) weeks of unpaid FMLA leave during a single twelve (12) month period to care for a covered servicemember employee or veteran who, for a serious injury or illness, is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation or therapy. If an employee is eligible for leave to care for a servicemember employee or veteran as well as for another FMLA-eligible reason, the total combined leave may not exceed twenty-six (26) weeks during that single twelve (12) month period.

Any FMLA leave taken by an employee during the preceding twelve (12) month period will be used to determine the amount of available leave pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act.

The right to family leave for the birth and/or placement of a child into an employee's family may only be taken within the twelve (12) month period after the date of the birth or placement of the child. In the case of unpaid leave for the birth or placement of a child, intermittent leave or working a reduced number of hours is not permitted, unless both the employee and the agency agree.

For purposes of this policy, a serious health condition means an illness, injury, impairment or physical or mental condition that involves:

- any period of incapacity or treatment in connection with or a consequence of in-patient care in a hospital, hospice or residential medical care facility or
- any period of incapacity requiring absence from work or other regular daily activities for more than three (3) calendar days that also involves:
  - continuous treatment by or under the supervision of a healthcare provider
  - continuous treatment by or under the supervision of a healthcare provider for a chronic long-term health condition that is incurable or so serious that if not treated would result in a period of incapacity of more than three (3) calendar days or prenatal care.

In the case of unpaid leave for serious health conditions, the leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced-hours basis only if such leave is medically necessary. Where an employee requests intermittent leave or leave on a reduced hours basis due to a family participating employee's or the employee's own serious health condition, the agency has the option, in its sole discretion, to require the employee to transfer to a temporary alternative job for which the employee is qualified and that better accommodates the intermittent leave or reduced-hours leave than the employee's regular job. The temporary position will have equivalent pay and benefits as the employee's regular job.

Employees are required to use their available vacation time during the twelve (12) week family leave period, or twenty-six (26) week period in the case of servicemember employee or veteran family leave, and available sick days will be used when family leave is taken because of serious health conditions.

That portion of the family leave of absence that is vacation time and/or sick days will be with pay according to the agency's policies regarding vacation time and sick days. The employee will be notified

immediately in writing that the vacation time and/or sick days will be counted toward the twelve (12) weeks of family leave, or twenty-six (26) weeks of servicemember employee or veteran family leave.

When the necessity of leave is foreseeable, the employee must provide the agency at least thirty (30) days' notice of the employee's intention to take leave. If circumstances require the employee's leave to begin in less than thirty (30) days from the date of notice to the agency, the employee must provide such notice as soon as practical. When the need for leave is unforeseeable, the employee must give notice as soon as practical and use the usual call-in procedures for reporting an absence.

Any leave request based on a family participating employee's or employee's own serious health condition must be supported by certification from a health care provider. The employee must provide a copy of the certification to the agency in a timely manner. Certification from the health care provider must contain:

- the date the serious health condition began
- the possible duration of the condition
- the appropriate medical facts regarding the condition
- a statement that the employee is needed to provide the care and an estimate of the amount of time that need will continue, if the leave is based on the care of a spouse, child or parent
- a statement that the employee is unable to perform the functions of his/her job, if the leave is based on the employee's own serious health condition
- the date the treatment is expected to be given and the duration of the treatment, in the case of intermittent leave or leave on a reduced-hours basis for planned medical treatment.

Any leave request due to a qualifying exigency must be supported by certification showing that the servicemember employee is on (or has been called to) active duty during deployment to a foreign country.

During family leaves of absence, the Housing Authority will continue to pay its portion of the health insurance premiums and the employee must continue to pay his/her share of the premium. Failure of the employee to pay his/her share of the health insurance premium may result in loss of coverage. If the employee does not return to work after the expiration of the leave, the employee will be required to reimburse the agency for payments of health insurance premiums during the family leave, unless the employee does not return because of the presence of a serious health condition that prevents the employee from performing his/her job or circumstances beyond the control of the employee.

During leave, the employee shall not accrue employment benefits such as vacation pay, sick pay, pension, etc. Employment benefits accrued by the employee up to the day on which the family leave of absence begins will not be lost.

The Housing Authority may require an employee on FMLA leave to report periodically on his/her status and the intention of the employee to return to work, and also may require periodic recertification of the medical condition. An employee taking leave due to the employee's serious health condition is required to obtain certification that the employee is able to resume work prior to the return from any FMLA leave. Employees who return to work from a family leave of absence within or on the business day following the expiration of the twelve (12) weeks are entitled to return to their job or an equivalent position without loss of benefits or pay.

**Procedure.** Requests for family leave of absence must be submitted in writing and signed by the employee's immediate manager. Requests should be submitted at least thirty (30) days before the leave is to commence or as soon as possible if thirty (30) days' notice is not possible.

Each employee seeking FMLA leave will be notified within five business days of their eligibility or ineligibility to take FMLA leave and of their rights and responsibilities. Once the agency has sufficient information to make a determination, the employee will be notified within five business days that leave will or will not be designated and counted as FMLA leave.

### **PERSONAL LEAVE**

A personal leave of absence without pay may be granted an employee at the discretion of the agency. It is not our general policy to grant personal leaves of absence and such leaves will be granted only under extraordinary circumstances. A personal leave of absence is not available instead of medical leave. Granting of such a leave depends on the review of the merits of each case, including the effect the employee's absence will have on the workload of the other employees. Requests for leaves of absence may be granted or rejected as dictated by the judgment of the Executive Director.

Salary and benefits are not payable to an employee while the employee is on a personal leave of absence. Health insurance may be continued if the employee pays the full premium at the group rate. Although employees do not accrue benefits while on leave, those benefits accrued up to the time the employee started the leave will be retained.

The employee's exact position, tour of duty, or work area may not be guaranteed upon return from a personal leave of absence; however, all efforts will be made to place the employee in the first available similar job with similar pay. The employee's date of initial employment will be adjusted to reflect the time spent on personal leave.

It is the employee's responsibility to return to work on the date the leave of absence expires. Should the employee fail to return and fail to notify the Executive Director of a request for an extension, we will assume that the employee does not intend to rejoin the agency and will consider the employee to have resigned from employment. A request for extension of a leave of absence must be in writing and must be received at least five working days prior to the expiration of a leave.

All personal leaves will be unpaid and any available paid time off, such as vacation, must be exhausted prior to applying for a leave. The maximum time that will normally be granted for any personal leave of absence is thirty (30) days per rolling 12-month period.

### BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

The purpose of bereavement leave is to provide employees with time to grieve the death of an immediate participating employee and to handle personal affairs without disrupting one's income.

- Employees may be granted up to three (3) days leave with pay in the event of the death of an immediate family participating employee.
  - The term immediate family member employee is defined as:
    - Spouse
    - Child

- Parent
- Sibling
- Father-in-law
- Mother-in-law
- Stepbrother
- Stepchild
- Stepfather
- Stepmother
- Stepsister
- Grandparent
- Grandchild
- Employees may be granted up to one (1) day leave with pay in the event of the death of a family member employee.
  - Family participating employees for which an employee would be allowed one (1) day leave include the following:
    - Aunt
    - Uncle
    - Cousin
    - Niece
    - Nephew

The employee will be compensated for scheduled work hours from which he/she is absent due to the bereavement, not exceeding eight hours each day, at their regular basic straight time hourly rate. No payment shall be made for absences due to a death in the family should any part of the day(s) absent fall on Saturday, Sunday, paid holiday, vacation, or while on layoff status.

If you are not eligible for bereavement leave with pay, you may be given time off without pay in the event of a death. Time off without pay may be arranged with your supervisor. Each day off will be counted as an absence without pay.

Administration reserves the right to ask you to supply the name and relationship of the deceased and the name of the funeral home that handled the arrangements.

### JURY DUTY/COURT APPEARANCES

In the event an employee is called to jury duty or to testify as a subpoenaed witness in a judicial proceeding, he/she will be granted a leave of absence. Full-time employees will be paid the difference between their regular pay and the amount received as a juror or witness for a maximum of 10 working days. Part-time employees will receive appropriate unpaid time off.

To be eligible for paid leave, an employee must present a jury summons or subpoena and pay verification from the Clerk of Court. When employees are dismissed from court duty prior to the end of the workday, they are expected to return to work or contact their supervisor for instructions.

### MILITARY LEAVE

Any full-time employee who is a participating employee of any reserve component of the United States Armed Forces or of any reserve component of the Illinois National Guard, shall be granted leave from employment for any period actively spent in military service, including:

- basic training;
- special or advanced training, whether or not within the State, and whether or not voluntary;
- annual training; and
- any other training or duty required by the United States Armed Forces.

Written or oral advance notice of the military service is to be provided to the agency by you or an appropriate officer of the branch of the uniformed service in which you will be serving. However, no notice is required if doing so is impossible or unreasonable because of military necessity or other legitimate reasons.

During these leaves, the employee's seniority and other benefits shall continue to accrue. The employee shall continue to receive his or her regular compensation. During leaves for basic training, for up to 60 days of special or advanced training, and for any other training or duty required by the United States Armed Forces, if the employee's daily rate of compensation for military activities is less than his or her daily rate of compensation as an employee of the agency, he or she shall receive his or her regular compensation minus the amount of his or her base pay for military activities.

You will be eligible for reemployment if:

- you provided the agency with advance written or oral notice of military service, unless giving of notice was impossible or unreasonable due to military necessity or other circumstances;
- you reported back to work or applied for reemployment; and
- your separation from the service was under honorable conditions.

Reemployment and all rights and benefits associated with reemployment can be denied if:

- any one of the above three requirements are not met;
- you left employment with the agency for reasons unrelated to military service and then subsequently decided to enter the military;
- your preservice position with the agency was for a brief, nonrecurrent period that was not reasonably expected to continue for a significant length of time, and you are unqualified for any other position at the agency; or
- the agency's circumstances have so changed as to make reemployment impossible or unreasonable.

### **VESSA**

The Victims' Economic Security and Safety Act ("VESSA") provides an employee who is a victim of domestic or sexual violence, or who has a family or household participating employee who is a victim of domestic or sexual violence, with up to eight (8) weeks of unpaid leave per any twelve (12) month period to address issues arising from domestic or sexual violence.

An employee may take VESSA leave to:

- Seek medical attention for, or recovery from, physical or psychological injuries caused by domestic or sexual violence to the employee or employee's family or household participating employee;
- Obtain victim services for the employee or employee's family or household participating employee;
- Obtain psychological or other counseling for the employee or the employee's family or household participating employee;
- Participate in safety planning, including temporary or permanent relocation or other actions to increase the safety of the victim from future domestic or sexual violence; or
- Seek legal assistance to ensure the health and safety of the victim, including participating in court proceedings related to the violence. VESSA leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced work schedule.

The employee shall provide at least 48 hours advance written notice of the employee's intention to take VESSA leave, except in such cases where it is not practicable to provide such notice. If an unscheduled absence occurs, the agency will not take action against the employee if the employee, upon request and within a reasonable period after the absence, provides certification.

The Authority reserves the right to require certification for leave taken under the Victims Economic Security and Safety Act ("VESSA") provisions meets criteria for such leave. This certification shall include a sworn statement from the employee and at least one of the following:

- Documentation from a victims' services organization, attorney, participating employee of the clergy, a medical or other professional from whom the employee or the employee's family or household participating employee has sought assistance.
- A police or court record
- Other corroborating evidence acceptable to the Knox County Housing Authority

Employees have the right to reinstatement to the same position they held immediately prior to taking leave under "VESSA" or to an equivalent position upon their return from such leave.

### ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

While the Authority believes in and recognizes the need for various leaves of absence, employees have the responsibility to be fair, open and honest with the Authority. The Authority may require substantiation for leaves of absence to verify the nature and length of each leave request. If the verification establishes that the employee is falsifying the reason for the absence, the employee will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. All pay will be stopped immediately. The Authority may seek reimbursement for compensation or benefits paid to or on behalf of an employee who falsifies a leave of absence.

The Authority will offer the opportunity to continue health insurance coverage for employees while on certain approved leaves. This will be in keeping with the applicable laws on medical coverage continuation (COBRA) and other state continuation laws. If the Authority requires employee contributions to any insurance coverage, the employee will be expected to continue to contribute his/her portion of the premium. A leave of absence may affect other benefits as well. Please see the payroll department for an explanation of continuation options.

### **HOLIDAYS**

The Knox County Housing Authority Holiday Observance Schedule will generally follow the observance schedule of the Office of the Chief Judge, Ninth Judicial Circuit, State of Illinois. Holiday observance will be in accordance with national or local observances. To qualify for payment for each holiday, employees must work their regularly scheduled shift on the day before and the day after the holiday.

All eligible non-exempt employees who are required to work on the day that any of the above holidays are observed will be paid for all hours worked plus extra hours based upon their normal hourly rate of pay. All regular full-time employees who are not required to work on any of the above holidays will be paid as if they worked the hours based on their normal hourly rate of pay. All regular part-time employees will be paid for four hours at their normal rate of pay for a recognized holiday.

There is no compensation for casual employees who are not required to work on any of the listed holidays or the day the holiday is observed. Casual employees who work in any office during one of the above holidays will be paid time and one half for hours worked based upon their normal hourly rate of pay.

Due to the nature of the Authority's services, we reserve the right to schedule any employee to work on holidays.

An employee who wishes to observe religious or ethnic holidays other than those designated above may do so by notifying the Executive Director in writing, at least two weeks prior to such holiday. Late notices may be accepted in certain circumstances at the Executive Director's discretion, but may be rejected. Employees may use a vacation day for such holiday observance or, alternatively, employees who have no accrued and unused vacation days available will be granted an unpaid absence for this purpose if the holiday absence is approved.

The agency may, at the discretion of the Executive Director, adjust the Holiday Observance Schedule, as appropriate.

### PAID TIME OFF

### Sick Days/Personal Days

Attendance is an important factor in every employee's annual salary review. Regular full-time and part-time employees are entitled to paid sick days for illness or incapacity not covered by workers' compensation. Periods of actual incapacity associated with pregnancy shall be treated the same as any other disability. Paid sick days shall become available to each regular full-time and part-time employee after 30 days of continuous employment.

Full-time employees are eligible for paid **sick days** pursuant to the following schedule:

- .86 days per month beginning with the 1<sup>st</sup> day of employment through the seventh year of service
- 1.25 days per month each year beginning with the eighth year of service
- Part-time employees receive sick days at one-half the rate of a full-time employee

Sick leave shall be allowable due to the illness of the employee, the employee's spouse, or the employee's minor children. Maximum sick pay accrual is 90 days for full-time and 45 days for part-time. Sick days are not payable upon termination.

Except in an emergency, an employee must give reasonable advance notice at least one-half hour prior to the start of his/her shift, to his/her supervisor or to the Executive Director, regarding the employee's intention to be absent and to be paid for that absence in accordance with this policy.

The Executive Director may request a physician's written verification of incapacity at any time from the employee's treating physician or from a physician chosen by the Authority. In order for an employee to be eligible for paid sick days when an employee is incapacitated, the employee must intend to return to work.

The Authority requires an employee who is absent for three (3) or more consecutive days to obtain a medical report from his/her physician certifying that he/she is able to resume his/her regular job responsibilities. This medical verification must be presented to the employee's supervisor or to the Executive Director before the employee will be allowed to return to work.

Paid absence days may be used only for periods of actual incapacity.

**Personal Days** - Employees may take up to two (2), paid personal days each year. These days are charged against accumulated sick days but no verification of illness or incapacitation will be required. Personal days may not be taken in conjunction with vacation days.

**Sick-Time Buy Back:** Recognizing the value of an engaged and present workforce, the agency offers a sick leave buyback program as both an attendance incentive and projected savings measure for the agency. Once an employee exceeds 60 days of sick time accrued (480 hours for an hourly employee, 450 hours for an administrative employee), they will be eligible to sell back any balance over that amount at 25% value. Employees will have the opportunity to participate in this program once per year, generally during the month of December, as to allow for year-end accounting processes. This payout will be considered part of their regular compensation, and thus will be taxed accordingly.

### EMERGENCY MEDICAL LEAVE BANK

The Knox County Housing Authority recognizes that major illnesses and catastrophic injuries may warrant the need for additional sick leave by an employee. The Emergency Medical Leave Bank provides an opportunity for employees to donate sick leave days, which in turn may be used by employees in emergency situations when their own sick leave days have been exhausted.

The purpose of the Emergency Medical Leave Bank is to provide additional paid sick leave under the following conditions:

- Employees who have experienced a personal or family medical emergency resulting in a prolonged illness, health condition, disability or injury, as subject to the terms outlined in this policy, and
- Has completely exhausted all accumulated leave time and is not otherwise receiving related compensation benefits such as disability, workmen's compensation, or unemployment.

For the purposes of this policy, a *catastrophic illness, health condition, disability or injury* is defined as a severe condition or combination of conditions that:

- affect the physical or mental health of the employee;
- result in a life-threatening or life function altering condition; and
- require an extended period of absence from work.

For the purposes of this policy, Family Participating employee is defined as:

- Spouse or domestic partner
- Children
- Grandchildren
- Parents
- Siblings
- Grandparents
- Any individual related by blood or affinity whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of an immediate family relationship

### Eligibility to Enroll and Participation in the Emergency Medical Leave Bank

- 1. All full-time employees who are eligible for sick leave and who have completed one (1) year of continuous service with the Knox County Housing Authority shall be eligible to participate.
- 2. Contribution of sick leave days from employees shall be made directly to the Emergency Medical Leave Bank and not directly to individual employees.
- 3. Annual participation in the Emergency Medical Leave Bank is voluntary, but requires contributions to the bank. Contributions shall be made at the Annual Open Enrollment Period in January of each year. Eligible employees who do not elect to join the Emergency Medical Leave Bank within the annual enrollment period shall not be permitted to join until the subsequent Annual Open Enrollment Period.
- 4. To become a participating employee of the Emergency Medical Leave Bank an employee must complete an Emergency Medical Leave Bank Donation Form and contribute at least one (1) day

from his/her accumulated sick leave for the current calendar year during the Annual Open Enrollment Period. All time donated shall be subtracted from the employee's local sick leave record and become the property of the Emergency Medical Leave Bank. Once executed, all contributions are irrevocable.

- 5. Employees must re-enroll annually in order to participate in subsequent calendar years.
- Only contributors to the bank shall be eligible to apply for benefits to use the Emergency Medical Leave Bank for payment for qualifying extended illness during regularly scheduled duty days, and beyond all other available leave options (i.e. sick leave, personal leave, annual leave, or any other available leave).
- 7. Enrollment in the Emergency Medical Leave Bank does not guarantee that an employee shall receive benefits from the Emergency Medical Leave Bank. Each request for withdrawal of benefits shall be evaluated and a decision made based on the specifics of the requests.
- 8. Participating employees shall lose the right to apply and be eligible for Emergency Medical Leave Bank benefits by:
  - Termination of employment.
  - Suspension with or without pay during the period of suspension.
  - Being on approved leave of absence.
  - Voluntary cancellation of his/her participating membership.
  - Any abuse or misuse of the rules of the Emergency Medical Leave Bank.

The Emergency Medical Leave Bank is not intended to be used for short-term leaves due to routine and non-extraordinary illnesses, nor for time off covered by or related to Worker's Compensation. Rather it is intended to be used for prolonged absences due to catastrophic illnesses, injury, health condition, or disability.

- 1. Use of the Emergency Medical Leave Bank shall be limited to the number of days (or value) in the bank on the established contribution deadline of each year.
- 2. The maximum number of days that can be granted to and withdrawn by any one participating employee in each calendar year shall be twenty-five (25) working days (200 hours) available within the Emergency Medical Leave Bank. Emergency Medical Leave Bank days shall be granted only for absences from working days and shall not be granted for holidays, vacation days or other such days for which the participating employee is not paid. Employees who withdraw Sick Leave Days shall not be required to pay back those days except as a regular contributing participating employee to the Bank.
- 3. An illness or injury does not qualify for coverage through the Emergency Medical Leave Bank unless it shall require the employee to be absent for a minimum of five (5) consecutive working days.
- 4. Participating employees must use all available sick leave, personal leave, accrued vacation leave (if applicable), or any other type of leave before receiving days from the bank.
- 5. If a Bank participating employee is granted days from the Emergency Medical Leave Bank and does not use all of the days, the unused Emergency Medical Leave Bank days shall be returned to the Bank.
- 6. Leave from the Emergency Medical Leave Bank may not be used for a disability that qualifies the participating employee for Workmen's Compensation benefits or disability retirement.

- 7. Certain illnesses may require intermittent usage of the bank. Each separate application for a grant from the Emergency Medical Leave Bank must include a new physician's statement on the appropriate Emergency Medical Leave Bank Request form.
- 8. Normal pregnancy with normal delivery shall not be covered under this Emergency Medical Leave Bank policy. Any absences associated with complicated pregnancies shall only be eligible for Emergency Medical Leave Bank consideration according to the following guidelines:
  - Any days absent prior to the birth with a doctor's note verifying the complicating condition and the need to be off work shall be eligible for consideration.
  - Any days beyond six (6) weeks after the birth with a doctor's note verifying the complicating condition and the need to be off work shall be eligible for consideration.
- 9. Addictions or the abuse of drugs, alcohol or other prohibited substances shall not be covered under the Emergency Medical Leave Bank policy.
- 10. All requests to draw upon the Emergency Medical Leave Bank must be made on an Emergency Medical Leave Bank Request Form and submitted to the Executive Director.
- 11. All requests to draw upon the Emergency Medical Leave Bank must be accompanied by the Physician's Statement Form confirming the cause of the medical emergency or confinement and certifying the existence of a disability to perform assigned duties.

The Executive Director shall review and determine approval or denial for utilization of Emergency Medical Leave Bank days in accordance with the provisions of this policy. The Executive Director shall notify the employee of the decision to approve or to deny the request within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of the request. The Executive Director 's decision shall be final and binding, and such decisions shall not be subject to review.

The Knox County Housing Authority reserves the right to amend the Emergency Medical Leave Bank program at any time. Days donated to the Emergency Medical Leave Bank by each employee shall be converted to a "value" based on the donating employee's daily rate of pay at the time of the donation. Withdrawn Emergency Medical Leave Bank days shall also be based on the employee's daily rate of pay until such time as there is no money left in the Emergency Medical Leave Bank for that year. Emergency Medical Leave Bank Days (or value) withdrawn shall be granted within the calendar year. In no case shall the withdrawal of Emergency Medical Leave Bank Days (or value) cause a participating employee to receive more salary than his/her annual salary.

Copies of all completed forms shall be kept in the employee's personnel file.

### **VACATION**

Regular full-time employees accrue paid vacation based on anniversary years of continuous service on the following basis:

- Between the first day of employment and the fifth anniversary of employment 10 days
- Between the fifth anniversary and the tenth Anniversary of employment
   15 days
- Annually after ten years of employment
   20 days

Regular part-time employees will accrue vacation at fifty percent of the rate for full-time employees.

Employees are not permitted to use vacation time during their introductory period. In addition, employees may not take vacation time prior to the time that it is earned.

Vacation is paid at the employee's regular rate of pay at the time the vacation is taken in accordance with the Authority's regular payroll policy.

Upon termination, all pay for accrued but unused vacation will be included in the employee's last paycheck. However, under no other circumstances will an employee receive pay in lieu of vacation. Vacation requests must be submitted to your supervisor or the Executive Director at least two weeks before your requested first day of vacation. Every effort will be made to give you the vacation period you prefer. Of course, the needs of the Authority and its operating efficiency will be considered foremost.

Employees may carry over vacation days from one year to the next. However, when any employee accumulates 1.5 times the number of annual vacation days allowed for their classification and length of service he or she shall have 60 days to use a sufficient number of vacation days to bring his or her total vacation accrual to less than 1.5 times the annual accrual for her or his tenure and classification. Vacation day accrual will continue during this 60-day period but will cease after that period unless the employee's accumulated vacation days has dropped below 1.5 times the annual accrual. Employees are encouraged to use accumulated vacation time within the year it is accrued. It should be noted that requests to take larger blocks of vacation time may be denied if doing so may compromise the mission of the Authority.

### ACCOMODATIONS FOR NURSING MOTHERS

The Housing Authority will adhere to all federal and local laws as they pertain to accommodating nursing mothers. The Housing Authority will comply with the break time requirement for nursing mothers in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act ("PPACA"), which took effect on March 23, 2010 (P.L. 111-148). This law amended Section 7 of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).

The Housing Authority will provide reasonable break time for an employee to express breast milk for her nursing child for 1 year after the child's birth each time such employee has a need to express the milk. A place, other than a bathroom, will be provided that is shielded from view and free from intrusion from coworkers and the public, which may be used by an employee to express breast milk.

An employee who uses break time to express milk will be compensated in the same way that other employees are compensated for break time (according to the FLSA and Housing Authority policies and procedures).

### WORKER'S COMPENSATION

You are covered by Worker's Compensation insurance if injured in the course of your work or if you become ill due to work-related causes. This insurance is paid for by the Authority and may cover medical costs, as well as partial income replacement, if you are unable to work.

If you are injured on the job, notify your supervisor immediately, no matter how minor the injury may seem. He/she will assist you in obtaining appropriate medical treatment, if necessary, and will also help with completing the necessary paperwork required under Authority policy and/or state law. Any medical bills incurred due to such injury should be submitted to the Executive Director.

### Work-Related Illness or Injury

Employees who are unable to work because of a work-related injury or illness will be given an unpaid leave of absence. The length of the leave and the amount of compensation will be in keeping with state Worker's Compensation laws. This leave may run concurrent with other leaves offered through the Authority.

There are certain procedures that will be followed when employees are injured on the job. In general, these procedures are:

- Employees who are injured on the job are expected to report the injury or illness to their supervisor as soon as the injury or illness happens, no matter how slight the injury.
- Employees must personally inform the supervisor that the injury was work-related. Working together, the Housing Authority can then ensure that the injured employee receives proper treatment, completes the appropriate paperwork, and that the employee returns to work as soon as possible.
- It is the employee's responsibility to keep in regular contact with his/her supervisor while away from work for all extended illnesses or injuries to provide a status update. The Authority may require a second opinion from a health care provider obtained and paid for by the Authority.
- A written return-to-work report will be required for all employees upon return to work.
   Worker's Compensation cases may be considered closed when the employee returns to work, when all therapy and treatments have been completed or when the employee has reached a healing plateau as determined by state Worker's Compensation laws.

### **VOTING TIME**

Knox County Housing Authority believes that each employee should have the opportunity to exercise his/her right to vote in a general election. Since the polls are open extended hours, in most instances, you may vote before or after work.

However, if your work schedule does not provide you with time to vote during non-working hours, you will be granted reasonable time off to vote during work hours according to legal requirements and state law. The Authority asks that you notify your supervisor prior to Election Day if you anticipate a need to take time off to vote.

The Housing Authority may designate the hours of voting time leave.

## Performance Management and Development

### **EMPLOYEE TRAINING**

When a new employee is hired, the individual goes through orientation, which includes information about the Housing Authority in general, as well as departmental information. The relationships and responsibilities between departments are covered in detail.

The Personnel Policies are reviewed during this orientation so that the employee has a good understanding of the benefits, rules and regulations.

The department head, supervisor, and/or manager are/is responsible for providing and coordinating job-specific training of their employees, if necessary.

When certain training courses are required by management, employees must successfully complete the training courses in the specified time frame (as determined by management) to ensure continued employment in their current position. The Housing Authority will pay for the training and supplies needed to complete these required courses on a first come, first serve basis for up to two attempts with each training opportunity (depending on annual budget allowances for training purposes).

If the employee is unable to successfully complete the required training after these two attempts, he/she will need to successfully complete the required course(s)/certifications at his/her own expense as a term of continued employment. If the employee is unable to successfully complete and pass the required course(s)/certifications, the Housing Authority reserves the right to demote or terminate the at-will employee based on organizational and budgetary needs.

On their own initiative, or per the request of their supervisors, regular employees may take training courses which are either related to their present job or will help them qualify for jobs requiring a higher level of responsibility or skill.

The Housing Authority, in its sole discretion, may share a portion or the total cost of taking courses from accredited institutions when such courses are successfully completed and proper documentation is provided for approval by the CEO or his/her designee. In order to be eligible for such reimbursement from the Housing Authority, a regular employee must obtain approval from the Housing Authority prior to enrolling in such a training course.

### PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS

The Housing Authority may require an evaluation of each employee's performance on an annual basis. Special evaluations may be necessary for purposes of transfers, promotions, demotions and other purposes. Performance evaluations are not necessarily linked with a transfer, promotion, or demotion and may take place regardless of whether an employee is eligible for a transfer, promotion, etc. Employees will be evaluated based on current performance and the standards and requirements of their respective position.

Your performance appraisal discussion will include:

- An appraisal of expected performance;
- A measure of key performance indicators for each position;
- A review of your strengths;
- Identification of any areas needing improvement;
- Goals and objectives that need to be achieved in the upcoming appraisal period.

Specific performance problems may be addressed outside the performance appraisal cycle through either informal discussions or formal disciplinary action.

Performance evaluations shall be filed in each employee's personnel file and may be considered in any personnel actions.

## **DEMOTIONS**

Unless otherwise specified in a written contract or by law, employment for Knox County Housing Authority employees is at will, and such employees may be demoted or terminated without cause and without any reason being given for such action.

A demotion occurs when an employee is not capable of satisfying the requirements of his/her position as described in the job description for the position. When an employee is demoted, he/she shall be paid at a rate that is within the approved range for the new position.

Whenever the employee's supervisor and the Executive Director determine that an employee should be demoted or terminated, the Executive Director will provide written notification to the employee. Said notice will include:

- The date of determination;
- The nature of the determination and the effective date;
- The reasons for the determination;
- The rights of the employee to examine his/her personnel file and examine all written evidence which has a bearing on such determination;
- The employee's appeal rights.

Employees will receive a minimum two (2) weeks' notice of demotion.

## PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

Employees who violate the provisions of the Knox County Housing Authority Personnel Policy shall be disciplined in a timely, fair, equitable and consistent manner. A system of progressive discipline may be used for the purpose of encouraging an employee to correct unacceptable behavior. The Housing Authority will consider all aspects of each individual case when rendering a decision on disciplinary action.

The HOUSING AUTHORITY reserves the right to bypass the disciplinary steps and base its disciplinary action on the severity, frequency, or combination of infractions when circumstances warrant immediate action. The following corrective actions and disciplinary steps shall be used as appropriate:

## **Oral Warning:**

The employee will be counseled by supervision following an infraction of the Knox County Housing Authority Personnel Policy in order to eliminate any possible misunderstanding concerning the rules, state clearly what is expected in the future, point out the consequences of a further infraction(s). An informal record is made of the oral warning by the supervisor and put in the employee's personnel file.

## Written Warning:

A written warning notice is issued to document the fact that the employee has been officially advised of the precise nature of his or her misconduct and warned that any future violations will result in further disciplinary actions, up to and including termination of employment. The employee is invited to make a written statement on the warning notice and requested to sign the form. If the employee refuses to sign the notice the supervisor should indicate the fact and reasons on the warning notice form.

A copy of the notice is given to the employee, one is retained in the personnel file. The warning notice becomes a part of the employee's personnel record.

## **Disciplinary Suspension:**

A disciplinary suspension is a period of not more than three (3) days. The employee is relieved of his or her job assignment for the duration of the suspension because of serious or repeated instances of misconduct. The employee may or may not be required to forfeit pay as a result of the suspension. Suspension is considered in situations where there is no specific instance of conduct that is so outrageous that justifies termination, but there is a pattern of conduct where the employee has continually engaged in infractions of the rules and has previously received a documented verbal and/or written warning for rule(s) infraction(s).

## **Termination of Employment:**

The employee is immediately discharged as a result of a serious offense, or as the final step in an accumulation of infractions for which a warning notice or notices have been written. When circumstances warrant discharge, the employee will be discharged for cause rather than be given the option to resign, be laid-off, or retire.

## PERSONNEL RECORDS

Employees may request the opportunity to inspect portions of their personnel records which are available for review under applicable law.

Record review requests must be in writing and requested at least 7 working days prior to the desired inspection date. Inspection will generally be permitted 7 working days after the request unless it cannot reasonably be provided on that date, in which case inspection will be permitted within 14 working days from the date of receipt of the request.

The employee shall be notified of the location at which records will be made available. Generally, record inspection will only be permitted during working hours and under Authority supervision, unless other arrangements acceptable to the Executive Director and the employee can be mutually agreed upon.

If the employee desires copies of his/her records, copies will be provided to the employee upon payment of the actual duplicating costs incurred.

# Section 7 Safety

## SAFETY POLICIES AND GUIDELINES

## Your Safety and Health

It is Housing Authority policy to provide safe working conditions for all employees. The Housing Authority will comply with the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA) and other applicable federal, state, and local safety laws. All Housing Authority employees must promote accident prevention by using all protective equipment supplied to them by the Housing Authority, and by observing the safety processes, policies, and procedures of the Housing Authority.

The Housing Authority will periodically provide safety training sessions for employees in an effort to reduce or eliminate the occurrence and recurrence of accidents on the job. The goal of safety training is to educate all employees to be able to (1) recognize hazards to life, health, property and work practices, (2) avoid and eliminate unsafe conditions and (3) properly and safely use inherently hazardous material and equipment.

Any form of unsafe conduct has no place in a working environment and is prohibited. The Authority considers safety to be a critical consideration in the operation of the business. It is the responsibility of every employee to follow the safety guidelines and work safely.

To summarize, our safety requirements include, but are not limited to:

- 1. Follow all prescribed safety procedures; if you don't know, ask your supervisor.
- 2. Immediately report accidents or injuries to your supervisor for prompt first aid.
- 3. Know how and when to wear all safety equipment required for your job. Appropriate equipment may include, but is not limited to, safety glasses, safety shoes, respiratory protection and seat belts.
- 4. Horseplay and unsafe conduct are prohibited at all times.
- 5. Maintain good housekeeping at all times.
- 6. Understand and exercise required safety lockout procedures, and keep required safety guarding in place and defect-free.
- 7. Do not operate any tools, equipment or processes unless you have been properly safety-trained and are authorized to do so.
- 8. Make sure you understand what you are working with, make yourself aware of potentially hazardous materials by utilizing our Hazard Communication Program Manual.
- 9. Remember, safety is everybody's job—all the time! Work carefully and safely.

Our safety and work guidelines and other information provided in this handbook are intended to help make you a safe and productive worker. Management may elect to modify or change the safety program and work guidelines and other information at any time.

Employees found disregarding the safety guidelines of the Authority will face discipline consistent with the Standards of Conduct Policy described earlier in this handbook. Discipline could include verbal warning, written warning, suspension or termination. Depending on the nature of the violation and the surrounding circumstances including, but not limited to, the employee's past work record and past conduct, one or more steps of the progressive discipline system may be repeated or skipped. Thus, in some circumstances, immediate termination may result.

Additional departmental safety guidelines and procedures may be set forth in separate documents as deemed necessary.

## **WORKPLACE VIOLENCE**

Workplace violence is a frustrating problem facing agencies today. While more information on the causes of violence and how to handle it is becoming known, there is often no reasonable rationale for this type of conduct and, despite everything we know or do, violent situations happen. No employer is immune from workplace violence and no employer can totally prevent it.

The cost to organizations is staggering. It is impossible to overstate the costs of workplace violence, because a single incident can have sweeping repercussions. There can be the immediate and profound loss of life or physical or psychological repercussions felt by the victim as well as the victim's family, friends, and co-workers; the loss of productivity and morale that sweeps through an organization after a violent incident; and the public relations impact on an employer when news of violence reaches the media.

Workplace violence affects other areas as well. The adverse impact on organizations and individuals is wide-ranging and can include:

- Temporary/Permanent Absence of Skilled Employee
- Psychological Damage
- Property Damage, Theft, and Sabotage
- Productivity Impediments
- Diversion of Management Resource
- Increased Security Costs
- Increased Workers' Compensation Costs
- Increased Personnel Costs
- Temporary/Permanent Absence of Skilled Employee

There are many theories about the causes of workplace violence. However, caution should be taken when profiling or stereotyping individuals or organizations since the presence of any of the factors related to these theories does not necessarily indicate a violent act will be carried out. Nevertheless, an incident can be the result of any one or a combination of these factors.

**Remember** – violence or threats of violence in all forms is unacceptable workplace behavior. It will not be tolerated and it will be dealt with appropriately.

One of the common types of workplace violence is that among co-workers. In addition, a high percentage of violent incidents are perpetrated by individuals from outside the workplace. This includes situations such as domestic violence, bomb threats, and violence by customers.

While they are often preventable, it is still difficult to determine whether or not any particular workplace situation is potentially violent. This is an emotional and complex topic, and decisions about what to do in certain situations are not always straightforward or made in a clearheaded state of mind. In many cases, employees ignore warning signs because they believe they are not important, "that's just the way Joe is," or that it is none of their business. In other situations, employees react based on fear and what they believe is the profile of a potentially violent person, not necessarily observed actual behavior.

Actual threats should always be taken seriously and responded to immediately. When there is not an actual threat, judgment and senses should be trusted. The "gut feeling" that one gets when talking to people should be respected. If one feels that someone is dangerous, take the proper precautions.

There are many forms of workplace violence among co-workers. Unfortunately, the one form that receives the most attention is workplace homicide. But there are far more incidents of violence that do not involve casualties but have the same traumatic effects. Some examples of the most frequently encountered situations among co-workers are:

- concealing or using a weapon;
- physical assault upon oneself or another person;
- actions which damage, destroy, or sabotage property;
- intimidating or frightening others
- harassing, stalking, or showing undue focus on another person;
- physically aggressive acts, such as shaking fists at another person, kicking, pounding on desks, punching a wall, angrily jumping up and down, screaming at others;
- verbal abuse including offensive, profane and vulgar language; and
- bullying;
- threats (direct or indirect), whether made in person or through letters, phone calls, or electronic mail.

The Housing Authority is committed to maintaining a safe environment for its employees, free from violence, threats of violence, harassment, intimidation, and other disruptive behavior. Such behavior will be taken seriously and will not be tolerated. Individuals who commit such acts may be removed from Housing Authority premises and may be subject to disciplinary action, criminal penalties, or both.

Employees of the Housing Authority should not ignore violent, threatening, harassing, intimidating, or other disruptive behavior. If anyone on Housing Authority premises displays such behavior, whether or not he/she is an employee, such behavior should be reported immediately to Program Manager or the Executive Director. The incident will be promptly investigated and appropriate action taken.

## **Employees (Including Managers and Supervisors) are responsible for:**

- their own behavior by interacting responsibility with fellow employees, supervisors, and clients;
- being familiar with agency policy regarding workplace violence;
- promptly reporting actual and/or potential acts of violence to appropriate authorities;
- cooperating fully in investigations/assessments of allegations of workplace violence; and
- informing appropriate personnel about restraining or protective court orders related to domestic situations so that proper precaution can be afforded at the work site.

## Managers and Supervisors are additionally responsible for:

- informing employees of the agency's workplace violence policy;
- taking all reported incidents of workplace violence seriously;
- investigating all acts of violence, threats, and similar disruptive behavior in a timely fashion and taking the necessary action(s);
- providing feedback to employees regarding the outcome of their reports regarding violent or potentially violent incidents;
- being cognizant of situations that have the potential to produce violent behavior and promptly addressing them with all concerned parties;

- encouraging employees who show signs of stress or evidence of possible domestic violence to seek assistance;
- assisting in assessing and investigating allegations of workplace violence raised by employees, supervisors, and/or managers, as requested;
- assist in determining what course of administrative action is most appropriate in specific situations,
- providing advice and counsel regarding personnel rules and regulations; and
- offering training courses to assist employees to deal with situations which may lead to potential violence, e.g., conflict resolution, stress management, negotiation skills, etc.

Threats, assaults, or physical violence that require immediate attention by police should be reported first to police at 911, then the Program Manager and the Executive Director.

# Section 8 Leaving Employment

## **RESIGNATIONS**

An employee who wishes to resign should give at least two (2) weeks advance written notice of resignation to their Program Manager and the Executive Director. Unless otherwise provided in these policies, an employee who is terminated may not receive prior notice of termination.

To resign in good standing, an employee shall give notice, in writing, to the Executive Director at least two (2) weeks (10 working days) prior to the effective date of resignation. The notice should indicate the reason for the resignation, and the date of separation. During the notice period, the employee will not be paid for time taken off as sick or compensatory time unless approved by the Executive Director. Failure to comply with the two weeks' notice provision shall be entered on the service record of the employee. The two weeks' notice period may be waived by the Executive Director, if such action is determined to be in the best interest of the KCHA.

An employee who resigns, is discharged, retires, or fails to return after an authorized leave of absence, will be regarded as permanently separated from employment. Should such separated employee be rehired, he/she will be re-employed as a new employee. An employee, who is involuntarily terminated, other than in connection with a reduction in force, will be ineligible for rehire.

Terminating employees will receive their final paycheck, along with any other required final compensation, on the first regularly scheduled payday following their termination date.

## **TERMINATIONS**

Employees may be discharged for failure to successfully complete their probationary periods and for reasons of unsatisfactory performance, disciplinary problems or other reasons. The termination date in these instances is determined by the Executive Director.

Dismissal, discharge, or termination is an involuntary separation from employment. KCHA employees are at-will employees. KCHA employees are considered "at-will employees" and may be dismissed at any time, with or without cause, notice, or reason. Termination of, or discharge from employment is a final decision, from which there is no right to file a grievance. All decisions to terminate employment are made by the Executive Director.

If you leave the Housing Authority for any reason, you must schedule an exit interview with the Executive Director or his/her designee.

## REDUCTION IN WORKFORCE (RIF)

When a lack of funds, lack of economic viability, economic slowdown, or technological or structural changes to KCHA's operation occurs, it may be necessary to lay off employees, i.e., conduct a Reduction-in-Force (RIF), to ensure the financial health and viability of the organization. In the event of a RIF, the Executive Director shall: 1) determine the number of employees and programs/operations to be affected and 2) define and designate employee(s) for RIF. Initially, an employee's competition for retention in the work force will be within the affected administrative division/housing entity and project funding authority.

The order to layoff is determined by management based on the skills, knowledge, and abilities that are necessary to perform the ongoing or future work of the Authority. When management determines that two or more employees possess substantially equal skills, knowledge, and abilities, layoffs occur in order of seniority. For the purpose of this procedure, seniority is based on a person's full-time equivalent months of service.

The names of employees who are laid off will be placed on a reinstatement list maintained by the Authority. The right to reinstatement shall remain in force up to 24 months following the effective date of lay off.

An employee's reinstatement rights shall be canceled for any of the following reasons:

- The employee does not respond to a reinstatement notice (sent by certified mail) within ten working days after receiving it.
- The employee refuses a position in the same job classification and competitive area.
- The employee does not have a current address on file with the Authority.
- The employee has been laid off for more than 24 months.
- The employee no longer meets the Authority's conditions for employment.

## **EXIT INTERVIEW**

In order to ensure that all employees who leave Housing Authority employment are sufficiently informed about their final pay, continuation of fringe benefits under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA), and their rights and conditions of separation, exit interviews are conducted by executive staff.

If you leave the Housing Authority for any reason, you must schedule an exit interview with the Executive Director or his/her designee.

## MEDICAL CONTINUATION OF BENEFITS (COBRA)

In the event of a death, termination of employment (including retirement), certain reductions of hours or entitlement to Medicare benefits, participants and their eligible dependents will be contacted by the Finance Department and offered the opportunity to continue medical coverage through the Housing Authority.

If you become divorced or legally separated or have a child who no longer qualifies as a dependent under the plan, you must notify Finance within 60 days of the event to receive applicable continuation rights.

You or your dependents will be entitled to continue medical coverage through the Authority by paying the full 100% of the monthly premium for the coverage. The maximum time allowed for continuation coverage is 18 months in the event of termination or a reduction in work hours and 36 months for most other events, with the exception of the flexible spending account which will run only run through the remainder of the plan year. Failure to make timely payment of your premiums will result in the forfeiture of continuation benefits.

At the end of the continuation period, certain coverage's may be converted to an individual policy through the plan carrier at the rates then in effect, subject to the terms of the plan.

This benefit is provided in accordance with the requirements of the federal law on continuation of health insurance (commonly known as "COBRA"). This benefit is subject to change as necessary to comply with the federal or state law.

## **RE-EMPLOYMENT**

A former employee of the Housing Authority is eligible for re-employment provided his/her previous Housing Authority employment record has been satisfactory. Individuals re-employed are subject to the conditions of employment in effect at the time of re-employment. Individuals re-employed on this basis would establish a new employment date (for retirement plan purposes).

With the exception of employees terminated for disciplinary reasons, employees who are within 1 year of their original separation date may be eligible for a continuation of their most recent leave accrual rate. This accrual rate will be based on their new position and previous years of service. Recent rehires may also be eligible for continued retirement benefits as described in the retirement plan.

# RECEIPT/ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM

The Authority believes wholeheartedly in the policies, practices, programs and procedures described in your employee handbook. However, the Authority does reserve the right to modify, revoke, suspend, terminate or change any of the policies, practices, programs, guidelines and employee benefits, in whole or in part, at any time, with or without notice. The language used in your employee handbook is not intended to create a contract between the Housing Authority and any one or all of its employees. The information contained in this employee handbook is presented in summary form as a matter of information only. It is your responsibility to be familiar with these policies and procedures. If questions regarding the application of benefit information in this employee handbook should arise, reference may be made to the appropriate unabridged plan document(s) given to you and/or maintained in the Administrative Office. Any conflicts between the handbook and the formal plan documents will be governed by the plan documents.

The final decision on any question regarding interpretation of the Housing Authority's policies rests with the executive management of the Authority. No person other than the Executive Director has authority to make any agreement for employment for any specified period of time or to make any agreement contrary to the foregoing. Further, any such agreement must be put in writing and signed by both the employee and the Executive Director.

We ask that you sign this form indicating that you have received the handbook, that you understand it will be used as a guideline only, that you understand your relationship with the Authority is "employment at will." This means you may terminate your employment at any time for any reason and that the Authority also retains the same right to terminate your employment at any time for any reason.

This employee handbook supersedes all previous written and verbal policies.

This will acknowledge that I have received a copy of the Authority Employee Handbook dated January 2020.

Name (Print)			
Signed			
Date			